

UPPSALA UNIVERSITET

Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine 1321

Working conditions and musculoskeletal disorders in flight baggage handling

EVA L BERGSTEN





ACTA UNIVERSITATIS UPSALIENSIS UPPSALA 2017

ISSN 1651-6206 ISBN 978-91-554-9868-9 urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-316468 Dissertation presented at Uppsala University to be publicly examined in Frödingesalen, Ulleråkersvägen, Uppsala, Wednesday, 17 May 2017 at 09:30 for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Faculty of Medicine). The examination will be conducted in Swedish. Faculty examiner: Professor Margareta Nordin (Departments of Orthopaedics and Environmental Medicine, School of Medicine, New York University).

Abstract

Bergsten, E. L. 2017. Working conditions and musculoskeletal disorders in flight baggage handling. *Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine* 1321. 59 pp. Uppsala: Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis. ISBN 978-91-554-9868-9.

Introduction: Baggage handling is considered to be a heavy manual handling job including biomechanical exposures suspected of increasing the risk for musculoskeletal disorders. Aims: To document low back pain (LBP), shoulder pain (SP), and physical and psychosocial factors in baggage handlers, and to evaluate the implementation of an ergonomic intervention aiming to increase the use of loading assist devices. Methods: A questionnaire was utilized to characterize pain and psychosocial work conditions in 525 baggage handlers. The postures of 55 baggage handlers during 114 shifts were measured using inclinometry, half shift videorecordings were made for subsequent task analysis, and the number of aircraft handled was registered. Associations for psychosocial and biomechanical exposures with pain were assessed using regression analyses. An ergonomic intervention was implemented and evaluated using questionnaires and repeated interviews. Feasibility, intermediate outcomes, barriers and facilitators were assessed. **Results:** The prevalence rates of reported LBP and SP were 70% and 60%, respectively. Pain interfering with work (LBP - 30% and SP - 18%) and high pain intensity (LBP - 34% and SP - 28%) were associated with poor psychosocial working conditions. Extreme postures with arms elevated $>60^\circ$ occurred for 6.4% of the total time, and in trunk flexion $>60^{\circ}$ for 2.1% total time. In contrast, 71% of the total time was spent in a neutral trunk posture. The 90th percentile trunk forward flexion was 34.1°. Daily shoulder pain increased in approximately one-third of all shifts and was positively associated with extreme work posture and the number of aircraft handled: this association was modified by influence and support. The intervention was delivered as planned, and dose received and satisfaction were rated as high. Motivated trainees facilitated implementation while lack of manager support, opportunities to observe and practice behaviors, follow-up activities, staff reduction, and job insecurity were barriers. Conclusion: The high prevalence rates of LBP and SP in baggage handlers were associated with psychosocial exposures, and daily shoulder pain was associated with higher biomechanical exposure. Barriers to implementation can be minimized by recruiting motivated trainees, securing strong organizational support, and carrying out follow-up activities.

Keywords: epidemiology, low back pain, shoulder pain, physical exposures, psychosocial exposures, inclinometry, implementation, process evaluation

Eva L Bergsten, Department of Medical Sciences, Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Akademiska sjukhuset, Uppsala University, SE-75185 Uppsala, Sweden.

© Eva L Bergsten 2017

ISSN 1651-6206 ISBN 978-91-554-9868-9 urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-316468 (http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-316468)

To my family

List of Papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Bergsten, E.L., Mathiassen S.E., Vingård, E. (2015) Psychosocial work factors and musculoskeletal pain: a cross sectional study among Swedish flight baggage handlers. *BioMed Research International*, 2015:798042
- II Wahlström, J., Bergsten, E.L., Trask, C., Mathiassen, S.E., Jackson, J., Forsman, M. (2016) Full-shift trunk and upper arm postures and movements among aircraft baggage handlers. *The Annals of Occupational Hygiene*, 54: 584-94
- III Bergsten, E.L., Mathiassen, S.E., Kwak, L., Vingård, E. Daily shoulder pain among flight baggage handlers and its association with arm postures and work tasks on the same day. *Submitted for publication January 2017.*
- IV Bergsten, E.L., Mathiassen, S.E., Larsson, J., Kwak, L. Implementation of an ergonomics intervention in a Swedish flight baggage handling company – a process evaluation. *Submitted for publication February 2017.*

Reprints included with permission from the original publishers.

Contents

Introduction	11
Background	12
Flight baggage handling	12
Low back and shoulder pain	13
Work-related exposures	15
Measuring pain	16
Measuring exposure	17
Ergonomic interventions designed to prevent MSDs	
Implementation of interventions	
Aims of the thesis	20
Methods	21
Design and participants	21
Data collection and measurements	23
Data processing and analysis	27
Results	
Prevalence of pain (Paper I)	
Work-related psychosocial work factors (Paper I)	
Physical working conditions (Paper II)	
Shoulder pain during work (Paper III)	
Implementation of an ergonomic intervention (Paper IV)	
Discussion	
Physical working conditions	
Psychosocial working conditions	41
Implementation of an ergonomic intervention	41
Potential confounders	
Methodological considerations	
Conclusions	
Future perspectives	
Acknowledgements	46
Sammanfattning på svenska	48
References	51

Abbreviations

Body Mass Index
Confidence interval
Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire
Forward projection
Follow-up questionnaire
Generalized Estimating Equations
Hazard ratio
International Air Transport Association
Inclinometry
International Standardization Organization
Key person
Low back pain
Lateral projection
Musculoskeletal disorders
Standardized Nordic Questionnaire
Occupational Health and Safety
High pain intensity
Pain interfering with work
Standard deviation
Short message service
Safety officers and instructors
Shoulder pain
The Vocational Training and Working Environment Council,
(Transportfackens Yrkes- och Arbetsmiljönämnd)
Unit load device

Introduction

The Swedish Transport Workers' Union has noted increases in the frequency of work-related incidents, accidents and sickness due to musculoskeletal disorders reported by baggage handlers. Together with the Vocational Training and Working Environment Council (Transportfackens Yrkes- och Arbetsmiljönämnd – TYA - a council formed jointly by the transport union and the association of aviation industry employers), they conducted a project from 2010-2012 entitled "Skadefria cargo- och flygplanslastare" aiming to document work environment conditions as a basis for improving health and preventing musculoskeletal disorders. In Sweden baggage handlers at larger airports are employed by handling companies that operate as contractors at the larger airports, otherwise directly by the airport. Six Swedish airports and fourteen handling companies were included in the TYA project.

The work included in this thesis represents a major contribution to this project and involved quantifying the prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) and describing work-related physical and psychosocial exposures of potential importance in connection with low back and shoulder pain among flight baggage handlers. Furthermore, this thesis evaluates the implementation of an occupational intervention implemented by TYA, including the assessment of barriers and key facilitators of importance for a successful implementation.

Background

Flight baggage handling

The first commercial airline flight on January 1, 1914, carried only one passenger, while today, a hundred years later, on this same date, 8.5 million passengers flew on approximately 100 000 passenger flights operated by almost 1,400 airlines with a total fleet of 25,000 aircraft serving 4,000 airports²⁸. If, approximately, every fourth passenger checks in a single 10 kg bag (a rather conservative assumption), 43 million kg of luggage would have to be loaded and unloaded every day. Sweden currently has 41 airports with about 1,400 baggage handlers and during January of 2016, 2.6 million passengers flew from the ten largest Swedish airports.

These baggage handlers typically work either in baggage sorting or at the ramp, i.e. the area around the aircraft. In the sorting area, baggage handlers load and unload checked-in baggage onto carts or Unit Load Devices (i.e., containers which are subsequently loaded onto the aircraft). In addition, these workers use trucks to transport carts and ULDs to and from the ramp. At the outdoor ramp near the aircraft they sort, load and unload baggage, cargo and mail employing conveyor belts and, for ULDs, a 'highloader' vehicle. The other tasks performed by baggage handlers include towing aircraft to and from the gates with a pushback vehicle, attaching auxiliary power cables, placing brake bumpers behind the wheels, pulling pylons and stairs into place around the parked aircraft, de-icing and refueling. At smaller airports baggage handlers may provide even more diverse services, e.g., snow clearance and fire protection.

Baggage handling involves similar tasks at all larger airports and is, according to previous studies and "grey literature", characterized by heavy lifting, pushing and pulling on the ground, and work in constrained and awkward postures, such as sitting, stooping, kneeling and even lying down ^{19, 94}. The occurrence of musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) has been considered, but scientific documentation is sparse and for the most part more than twenty years old ^{19, 45, 53, 86, 89, 94, 95, 101}. Of these studies, one documented a high prevalence of MSDs in the back, knees and shoulders ⁹⁵. A more recent investigation on Danish baggage handlers reported one year prevalence of 33% for LBP and 25% for SP ¹¹. Among the attempts to characterize baggage handling tasks, some have been experimental, ^{45, 89, 94, 95}, and several have evaluated interventions, including changes in working technique ^{45, 53}, and a use of a conveyor belt ¹⁰¹ or weightlifting belt to prevent pain ⁸⁶. However, neither the nature of and variation in trunk and arm postures and movements during work shifts nor associations between work exposures during a shift and "short term", daily pain have been examined. Furthermore, no studies addressing psychosocial work factors in this context appear to have been performed.

Although based on relatively little scientific evidence, working techniques ^{19, 53, 94}, years of employment and cumulative heavy lifting ^{11, 102} have been proposed risk factors associated with baggage handling. Loading and stowing bags in a narrow body aircraft was rated by baggage handlers and safety officers as the risk factor most closely associated with LBP ¹⁹. In one experimental investigation, greater bag weight and stowing height from kneeling position increased spinal loading ⁹⁴; while in another, information about bag weight (bag tags) and an altered stowing procedure reduced cumulative spinal loading and trunk muscle activity ⁵³.

According to company and union representatives, many different organizational factors may influence the workload of an individual baggage handler, including air traffic intensity, the number and type of aircraft assigned during a shift, the tasks assigned in connection with loading and/or unloading, the quantity and weight of checked baggage, and weather conditions on the ramp. Baggage handling companies, which as contractors at the larger airports, rent their operating facilities and provide services through various service level agreements, have only limited possibilities to promote technical or organizational interventions related to the work environment facilities, certain of the loading devices and in particular, the aircraft served.

Low back and shoulder pain

The frequency of musculoskeletal pain, a common problem among the general global population, varies between studies. The incidence of low back pain (LBP) at some point in life ranges from 51-84% ⁶⁹, with corresponding values 7-67% ⁶⁴ in the case of shoulder pain (SP). The corresponding annual prevalence range from 0.8-82.5% ⁴⁰ and 5-47% ⁶⁴. These wide ranges reflect factors such as differing definitions of pain severity, duration and associated disability.

Low back and shoulder disorders among workers are a major cause of morbidity at work, resulting in sick leave and compensation claims. Among the working population of Sweden, approximately half of all such claims are related to musculoskeletal disorders and about 25% of female and 20% of male workers reported work related musculoskeletal disorders last year ⁹⁰ and both environmental and personal factors influence the incidence and the course of this disorder. According to Punnett and colleagues ⁸⁴, 37% of world-wide LBP was occupational.

Work-related musculoskeletal pain

The World Health Organization expert committee describes as multifactorial, "work-related diseases" to which the occupational environment and the performance of work contribute significantly ²⁹ (p.17-18). It is assumed that loading of tissue structures associated with repetitious or uncomfortable work, movements and/or postures and/or inadequate recovery time, may give rise to musculoskeletal disorders or pain (WMSD). Normally, tissues adapt to stress, but if the mechanical overload exceeds its physiological tolerance, e.g., due to excessive, sustained and/or repetitive exertion, pathological changes may occur with outflow of metabolites which activates pain receptors in the muscle. Another mechanism proposed involves local ischemia, with resulting accumulation of metabolites in the muscle ⁷⁹ (p.152).

However, it seems unlikely that a single physiological process can explain the development of pain, which appears to be multifactorial. The role of psychosocial factors in this context is not yet fully understood, since mechanisms that might link psychosocial factors to MSDs remain unknown. Certain overlapping models have been proposed.

The gate control theory of pain presented by Melzack and Wall in 1965⁷² provided new insights into the transmission and alleviation of pain. This theory proposed that by stimulating of non-nociceptive afferent nerve fibers (e.g., stimulation of mechanoreceptors with massage) a gating mechanism located in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord regulates incoming pain signals before impulses are then sent to the brain. Another common model is the "Cinderellea hypothesis", suggesting that overuse of low-threshold motor units that are constantly active during prolonged mental activity or low-level physical activity can lead to metabolic disturbances, exhausted and damaged muscle fibers, and the development of pain ⁷¹. When activation of the neural, neuroendochrine and immune systems by stressful challenges, so-called allostatic load, is not turned off normally, health problems may also develop ⁷⁰.

Concerning ergonomic interventions designed to improve the work environment and reduce physical load, Lundberg and co-workers ⁶⁵ suggest that the lack of rest and recovery from physical and mental stress may be a more important health problem than the physical work load itself. However, if low-threshold motor units are activated by both mental and physical effort, recovery alone may not reduce the risk for MSDs ⁶⁵.

Work-related exposures

Physical factors

Several systematic reviews indicate that heavy lifting, repetitive work $^{16, 26}$ and working in awkward postures $^{16, 37, 85, 91, 116}$ elevate the risk for developing LBP. For example this risk has been proposed to be increased by trunk flexion of 60° or more for longer than 5% of the working day was suggested 37 .

Physical risk factors for developing shoulder disorders identified previously include heavy work load, working with the hands above shoulder level, pushing and pulling ^{34, 59, 68, 108, 111}, repetitive movements ^{2, 59, 108, 111}, and vibration ^{57, 68, 90, 108, 111}. Roquelaure and colleagues (2011) found that arm abduction, by more than 90° for men and 60° for women for two hours or more per day increased the risk of shoulder disorders (rotator cuff syndrome) ⁸⁸. A Swedish report based on technical measurements, recommends elevating the arm more than 60° for at most 10% of working time ³¹.

The biopsychosocial model

When physical conditions alone cannot explain the development of MSDs, psychological and social attributes may be involved. The biopsychosocial model described by Engel in 1977²³ presents pain from a multidimensional perspective that takes interaction between biological, psychological and social factors and/or physical load into consideration ^{14, 18, 71}. Increased muscle tension may give rise to biomechanical stress ^{14, 71, 106}, increased levels of muscle metabolites, inflammatory alterations, and subsequent muscle pain ¹⁰⁰. For example, negative feelings about work may lead to adverse psychological and physiological strain, with muscle tension or elevated levels of catecholamines and production of cortisol, as well as poor working methods, the use of excessive force to accomplish a task and failure to rest ²⁹ (p.8).

Psychosocial factors

The importance of work-related psychosocial factors in the development and/or aggravation of low back and shoulder pain has been highlighted by epidemiological studies ^{16, 35} suggesting that high demands ³⁸ and poor social support increase the risk for LBP, sick leave, restricted activity and failure to return to work due to LBP ^{35, 38, 124}. Furthermore, a review by Linton ⁶² concluded that low job satisfaction, stress and the belief that one's work is dangerous in terms of back pain and disability are also associated with LBP.

A relationship between work-related psychosocial factors and shoulder symptoms has been indicated by several systematic reviews ^{13, 35, 111}, but the results are inconsistent ¹⁰⁸. Most of the studies reviewed involved a cross-sectional design ^{13, 108, 111}, but more recent reviews addressing only longitudi-

nal studies suggest that high work demands, low control, perceived stress ^{13,} ^{35, 57}, low social support, low authority to make decisions ^{35, 57} and low influence in general ⁵⁷ are associated with shoulder symptoms.

In contrast, a Swedish systematic review provides no support for associations between shoulder pain and high work demands, and lack of support and control. The main reason for such inconsistencies are methodological, including a lack of longitudinal designs and of well-defined exposures and outcomes that can be measured objectively ⁹⁰.

Measuring pain

Epidemiological characterization of LBP and SP is difficult and the findings vary greatly, probably due to many factors such as different definitions of pain and periods of prevalence ^{41, 69}. Indeed, most studies of this nature have not specified the minimum duration of pain considered; the period of prevalence most commonly, prevalence at one point in time, followed by one year and one month; and whether the pain limited activity ⁴¹.

Self-rated prevalence of pain, pain intensity and pain interfering with work can be assessed with questionnaires and other forms of self-reported information, by personal interview or clinical examination. Although clinical examination might be more specific ⁴⁴, questionnaires are often used in epidemiological studies for reasons of feasibility and cost. In this context, mobile phone and text messages (SMS) are being used more and more frequently and have proven to be a cheap and user-friendly alternative ⁷ that yields high response rates ^{7, 52}.

Pain intensity can be assessed on numerical or verbal scales or with painfaces, all procedures commonly applied in both clinical and research settings and shown to demonstrate good validity and sensitivity ^{24, 36}.

When evaluating cross-sectional questionnaire data, (e.g., retrospectively reported pain) potential recall bias must be taken into consideration. However, recall of pain intensity and interference with activities for at least three months has been shown to exhibit acceptable validity ¹²³. At the same time, self-reported prevalence of pain is greater than the prevalence confirmed by clinical examination ⁴⁴ associations between psychosocial work factors and self-rated pain are stronger than with pain diagnosed by physical examination ¹⁷.

Another limitation in this connection involves where and when data are collected; attribution bias may occur if workers are required to answer the questionnaire at work rather than outside work ⁹. Workers who believe occupational factors may lead to pain frequently consider their exposure to such factors to be greater and attribute their pain more strongly to their work ¹⁷.

On the other hand, conducting studies in occupational settings may give rise to a so-called "healthy worker survivor effect", i.e., those participating are currently employed and may be healthier than those who are sick and not present 6 .

Measuring exposure

Physical factors

The impact of the amplitude, frequency and duration of the exposure to physical factors on the human body or parts thereof ¹²² is often assessed with different instruments and methods with varying degrees of precision and accuracy; self-reports, observations and direct technical measurements ^{82, 119}. The limitations associated with self-reporting of postures and movements in questionnaires, diaries or interviews include recall bias and poor ability to quantify duration and frequency in detail ¹¹⁹, e.g., overestimation of duration ^{99, 105}. Although a structured interview is more reliable and valid than a self-administered questionnaire ¹²⁰, the latter are often used in larger epidemiological studies since they can provide information about many different types of exposure and are relatively inexpensive.

The major limitation associated with observational studies involving approaches such as filming and/or checklists is the ability of the investigator to interpret what is observed ⁹⁷. For example, in comparison to an inclinometry, observers found it difficult to assess postural angels with precision, although extreme postures were evaluated well ¹²¹.

With regard to objectivity and precision, measuring with technical instruments is preferable to self-reported and observed postures ¹¹⁹, and several such instruments are available. A triaxial accelerometer, i.e., an inclinometer that measures the angle of a body part in relation to the line of gravity, is commonly employed. In general, inclinometers are frequently utilized in epidemiological field studies and have been found to be safe, light weight and easy to use for both researchers and workers moving inside and outside, changing clothes and performing various tasks ^{12, 30}. Data are stored in a device worn by the worker or in the inclinometer itself and working postures and movements can be recorded for prolonged periods ³⁰.

Psychosocial factors

Among the models applied to the assessment of psychosocial stress factors in the working environment and their impact on worker health ⁹⁶, the most

commonly used is the Demand-Control Model proposed by Karasek (1979) ⁴⁸, later expanded to include a social support dimension ⁴⁹. This model postulates that great psychological demands (time pressure, mentally demanding tasks, etc.), together with lack of control and influence over one's working conditions (i.e., low decision latitude) leads to a high level of work strain. Among the variety of instruments employed in this context, the Job Content Questionnaire is designed to assess psychological demands, ability to make decisions, social support, physical demands and job insecurity ⁴⁷. The Effort-Reward-Imbalance (ERI) proposed by Siegrist (1996) ⁹³ emphasizes that a lack of mutuality between work effort and rewards such as income, occupational status, career opportunities, etc., results in emotional stress. The General Nordic Questionnaire (QPS Nordic) ¹²⁵ and the Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire (COPSOQ) ⁵⁴ cover a broad range of psychosocial factors with a variety of scales.

Ergonomic interventions designed to prevent MSDs

Many ergonomic interventions designed to prevent MSDs among the working population include behavioral, organizational and/or psychosocial elements ⁵⁵. Although many organizations invest considerable resources in interventions designed to improve the work environment and prevent health problems among their employees, it is not always clear how successful these are, and evidence for the effectiveness of ergonomic interventions is inconsistent ^{51, 109, 110, 115}.

Assessment of ergonomic interventions often focus solely on the effect outcomes, such as exposure and MSDs, often being designed with little consideration of theories concerning effective change, and rarely incorporating systematic assessment of barriers and facilitators to the implementation process ^{73, 76, 78, 117, 118}. A better understanding of the implementation process can increase the likelihood of success ¹⁰⁹ and facilitate analysis of whether the intervention worked and why ^{61, 75, 78}.

Implementation of interventions

The effectiveness of ergonomic interventions also depends on the extent to which the intended intervention is effective in reducing MSDs, and the extent to which these are actually adopted by the organization and individual workers ^{55, 114}. Social and behavioral interventions in multiple company locations and involving different groups of employees are complex and require even more detailed evaluation. This increases the need of ensuring to what extent the intervention has actually been equally implemented and with regard to the outcome, what barriers and facilitators may have influenced the implementation and in what direction. Moreover, such evaluation can help

policy makers and practitioners decide how to replicate or modify the intervention 74 .

In early 2000, interventions began to be evaluated more often, although published reports remain sparse ⁶¹, and different frameworks and guidelines for evaluating an implementation process have been proposed ^{61, 74, 77}. However, a systematic review has indicated that the quality of such evaluations is in general average or poor, e.g., due to the lack of systematic assessment of barriers and facilitators through questionnaires or interviews, such barriers and facilitators have most often been examined solely on the basis of the experience of the researchers and, consensus concerning the definition of process components is required ¹¹⁷.

Aims of the thesis

The primary aim of this thesis was to document physical and psychosocial exposures and associations with low back and shoulder pain among flight baggage handlers. The secondary aim was to evaluate implementation of a related work environment intervention. The specific aims were as follows:

- I to document low back and shoulder pain, and determine the extent to which psychosocial factors are associated with pain intensity and pain interfering with work.
- II to quantify full shift trunk and upper arm postural exposures and determine the extent to which exposures differs between baggage handlers working on the ramp and in the sorting areas.
- III to examine the development of self-reported shoulder pain during a single work shift and subsequently, the extent to which psychosocial factors and biomechanical exposure during the same shift can explain the pain.
- IV to evaluate the implementation process of an ergonomic intervention aimed at increasing the use of loading assist devices among flight baggage handlers.

Methods

Design and participants

Paper I was a cross-sectional study based on a questionnaire distributed to 806 Swedish flight baggage handlers employed either by a handling company or directly by the airport. This questionnaire covered demographic factors (age, gender, height, weight, work experience) and included questions concerning musculoskeletal disorders, psychosocial work factors, physical workload and general health.

Paper II was based on assessment of trunk and upper arm elevation by 27 baggage handlers selected randomly, (16 ramp workers and 11 sort workers, (Table 1)) throughout three full work shifts using inclinometers. The cumulative distribution of postures and movements, extreme postures, rest and recovery, and variation of exposure were described and analysed ⁶⁷.

Paper III was based in part on the data collected in papers I and II. In addition to the inclination measurements and video recordings of the 27 subjects in study II, an additional 28 subjects in another five smaller airports, were examined in the same manner, giving a total of 55 subjects (Table 1). At these smaller airports, data were collected for one shift only, for a total of 114 shifts measured (Table 1). Potential association between biomechanical and psychosocial work factors and daily shoulder pain were assessed. Independent factors likely to demonstrate such associations on the basis of previous reports and reasonable assumptions were selected as independent variables; work in extreme arm postures ⁸⁷, the duration of neutral arm postures, the number of aircraft handled (as a proxy for strenuous work), influence at work and support from colleagues ⁵⁷. The difference between shoulder pain rated before and after work served as the dependent variable.

	INC Subjects n (ramp/sort)	INC Shifts n (ramp/sort)	Video Subjects n (all ramp)
Airport 1	27 (16/11)	86 (54/32)	5
Airport 2	6 (6/0)	6 (6/0)	6
Airport 3	5 (5/0)	5 (5/0)	5
Airport 4	6 (6/0)	6 (6/0)	4
Airport 5	6 (6/0)	6 (6/0)	5
Airport 6	5 (5/0)	5 (5/0)	4
Total	55 (44/11)	114 (82/32)	29

Table 1. The number of baggage handlers working on the ramp or in the sorting area (sort)) and shifts video recorded (VR) and assessed with respect to upper arm inclination (INC) at six airports.

Paper IV describes the evaluation of an intervention, an ergonomic training program, including barriers and facilitators to the implementation. This program was designed to reduce and prevent MSDs by promoting the use of loading assist devices through improvement of work skills and confidence in the use of the devices, as well as of communication between workers. An expert organization conducted this training program at the work site during working hours. The program covered Ergonomics (when, why and how to use devices) and Human Factors at work (HF) (work rules, norms and how to communicate). Of the 93 eligible baggage handlers with key roles in the company (safety officer, coordinator, instructor, manager) 50 participated in at least one of the two days of training (Table 2). Telephone interviews during implementation, course evaluations and a web-based questionnaire (FuQ) four months later were carried out.

Role in the	Eligi-	Partici	pants	Partic	ipants	Partici	ipants in
company	ble	in Erg	onom-	in l	Human	both p	arts
		ics		Factor	S		
	n	n	% of	п	% of	п	% of
			eli-		eli-		eligi-
			gible		gible		ble
Safety	16	12	75	11	69	11	69
officer							
Coordinator	42	11	26	11	26	8	19
Instructor	26	13	50	9	35	7	27
Manager	9	7	77	4	44	2	22
Total	93	43	46	35	38	28	30

Table 2. Eligible key persons and participants in the Ergonomics and Human Factors parts of the training program.

All subjects provided their written informed consent prior to participation and these studies were pre-approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Uppsala, Sweden.

Data collection and measurements

The questionnaire (Studies I and III)

In Study I, the questionnaire administered at the workplace by a member of our research team required approximately 20-30 minutes to complete and was collected on the same occasion or could be returned in a sealed envelope by mail. We visited all of the participating companies and airports involved and the baggage handlers were approached in person and given information concerning the study. Repeated visits were required to cover the different work shifts and to contact participants a second or third time if they had not yet submitted their questionnaire. We did not have access to telephone numbers or addresses for reminders.

The one-year prevalence of LBP, SP and pain that interfered with work (PIW) was measured with the Standardized Nordic Questionnaire ^{20, 56}. Pain intensity was reported on a 10-grade VAS-scale ranging from "no pain" to "very very high (almost maximal)". The workload on the low back and shoulders in connection with different tasks was rated using the question "how do you perceive the physical load in task xx", with answers on a six-grade scale ranging from "not at all" to "to a large extent". General health was rated on the basis of the single question "In general, how would you rate your health?".

Psychosocial factors were assessed with two domains of the latest edition of the medium-length Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire (COPSOQ) ⁵⁴: *Work organization and job content* (including five factors; influence at work, possibilities for development, variation, meaning of work, commitment to the workplace) and *Interpersonal relations and leadership* (including eight factors; predictability, recognition, role clarity, role conflicts, quality of leadership, social support from colleagues, support from supervisors, social community at work). Each of these factors, was addressed with 2-5 questions giving a total of 42 questions altogether.

Questions concerning six of these factors (influence at work, variation, commitment to the workplace, social support from colleagues, social support from supervisors and social community at work) were answered on a fivegrade scale ranging from "always" to "never/hardly ever", whereas for the other seven factors (possibilities for development, meaning of work, predictability, recognition, role clarity, role conflicts and quality of leadership) the five-step scale ranged from "to a large extent" to "to a very small extent". The answers were assigned a value of 0, 25, 50, 75 or 100 and an overall mean score calculated according to Pejtersen et al. ⁸¹. In general, a higher mean score indicates a more positive work environment, with the exception of role conflict, where the opposite is true.

Measurement of postural angles (Studies II and III)

Five researchers trained in the use of inclinometers collected data throughout the full morning, afternoon and night shifts, with instrumentation being set up prior to each shift.

VitaMove tri-axial accelerometer Inclinometers (INCs) (2 M Engineering, Veldhoven, the Netherlands) were used to measure trunk and arm angles. These INCs were attached over the flattest lateral portion of the deltoid muscle of each of the upper arms, with the upper edge at or below the level of the superior aspect of the acromion process and with the long axes aligned with the humerus when the arm was at $0^{\circ 104}$ (i.e., leaning to the side with the arm hanging while holding a 1-kg dumbbell ^{32, 50, 107}. To assess inclination of the trunk, each participant wore a customized harness containing an INC mounted between the medial borders of the scapulae and with the upper edge aligned with the superior borders of the scapulaes. No trunk inclination was recorded while standing upright.

Video recording and diaries (Study III)

Workers participating in the postural measurements were video recorded continuously during the first or second half of their shift and work task analysis were conducted.

During the shifts assessed, the baggage handlers registred the number of aircraft loadings and unloadings they were involved in, in a paper diary.

Prior to and immediately after their work shift, the participants rated their shoulder pain on a 0-100 mm VAS scale ranging from "no pain" to "worst pain imaginable".

Evaluation of the process and intermediate outcome (Study IV)

Immediately after the training program, the participants filled out a course evaluation rating engagement, communication techniques learned, the utility of new skills, overall satisfaction and satisfaction with time allocated, as well as the relevance of the training.

Four months later they rated intermediate outcomes in the web-based FuQ, i.e., how they perceived their *skills*, their *confidence* in discussing the use of

loading devices at work, how often they used these devices, how often they taught colleagues to use them, and how much feedback they gave colleagues regarding their work *behavior*.

Following the recommendations of Linnan and Steckler⁶¹, this data collection and evaluation of the implementation process focused on the following six items; i.e. *recruitment, context, reach, dose delivered, dose received and satisfaction.*

Recruitment and *Context* - information regarding the process of recruitment of participants and the organizational context was collected by the individual responsible for Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) at the company and by a representative from the expert organization conducting the intervention. *Reach*, defined as the proportion of the intended participants who actually attended the program, was provided by company data, as was the dose delivered, i.e., the extent to which the intended training was delivered as planned. measured in hours and component parts (materials and exercises performed). Dose received, the extent to which the training was received by the target group, was rated by having the participants indicate on a four-point scale ("not at all" to "to a very large extent") the extent to which they were engaged in the training, considered the knowledge to be useful, would get use of this new knowledge, would consistently practice their new skills and would be capable of and have the opportunity to transfer this new knowledge to colleagues. Participants in the HF training only rated the extent to which they were engaged and had learned useful communication techniques, as well as the likelihood that they would use these new skills. Satisfaction was rated on the basis of the time allocated to training on a four-point scale ("too little" to "way too much") and on the relevance of the training contents ("not at all" to "to a very large extent"). Overall satisfaction was rated on a tenpoint scale ranging from 0 ("extremely disappointed") to 10 ("extremely satisfied") in connection with the four-month follow-up web questionnaire.

Specific barriers and facilitators that influence the implementation were assessed with respect to: *trainee characteristics*, *training design* and *work environment*, as identified by Grossman and Salas²⁷ and in accordance with the model of Baldwin and Ford⁸. Data were collected both with the FuQ and by repeated semi-structured, 15-20 minute telephone interviews (Table 3) with 18 randomly selected KPs, 6 safety officers and 6 instructors six months after training and with 6 managers nine months after the training. A standardized protocol focussing on all ten components of barriers and facilitators was employed (Table 3). Moreover, a total of six KPs, (3 safety officers and 3 instructors), acted as "observers", providing monthly follow-up information (for 4-7 months after the training) to a member of our research team concerning organisational barriers and facilitators (e.g., factors related to schedules, staffing, loading devices, vehicles and facilities).

Components	Explanation	Source of data
Process items		
Recruitment	Procedures used to recruit participants	Company
Reclutiment	to the training program	company
Context	Organisational factors that may influ-	Interview
context	ence program implementation	interview
Beach	Proportion of intended participants	Company
Reden	who actually attended	company
Dose delivered	Number of training hours and compo-	Course evaluation
bose delivered	nents delivered	Company
Dose received	Extent to which the participants were	company
Dose received	actively engaged interacted and used	Course evaluation
	the materials and resources provided	Company
Satisfaction	Satisfaction with the training content	Course evaluation
Satisfaction	and delivery in terms of time, relevance	
	and usefulness.	
Barriers & Facilitators		
Trainee characteristics		
Self-efficacy	The participants' judgment of their own	FuQ. interview
·	competence to perform a task.	·
Motivation	Motivation to learn and transfer	FuQ, interview
	knowledge.	
Perceived utility of training	Perception of whether the training is	FuQ, interview
	useful and valuable	
Training design		
Behavioral modeling	Observing and practicing target behav-	FuQ, interview
	iors.	
Error management	Practicing knowledge and skills by mak-	Interview
	ing errors and receiving appropriate	
	feedback.	Interview
Realistic training	Learning and practicing in the work	
environment	environment.	
Work environment		
Transfer climate	Extent to which the skills learned are	FuQ, interview
	applied and feedback on performance	
	received.	
Support	Supervisor and peer support including	FuQ, interview
	communication of goals and feedback	
	regarding desired and acceptable per-	
	tormance.	Full interview
Opportunity to perform	Opportunities to utilize new skills, e.g.,	Fug, interview
Follow	by modifying working conditions.	Interview
Follow-up	Additional learning opportunities after	Interview
	the training period.	

Table 3. Components in the process and outcome evaluation and methods used to retrieve information in the present study.

Intermediate effects Skill Confidence Behavior FuQ FuQ FuQ

Data processing and analysis

Paper I

High pain intensity (PINT) was defined as a rating of 5 or higher in accordance with the findings by Andersen and colleagues ³ that subjects with such a high rating were at higher risk for long-term sickness absence. Pain that interfered with work (PIW) was rated dichotomously "yes" or "no". Descriptive data on the one-year prevalence of LBP and SP, as well as different expressions of pain (such as PINT and PIW) were tabulated.

Each of the 13 psychosocial factors was analyzed both individually and grouped into one of the domains, *Work organization and job content* or *Interpersonal relations and leadership*. For analysis of potential associations between self-reported psychosocial work-related factors and pain, Cox proportional hazard regression with constant time at risk was used, with PINT and PIW for both the low back and shoulders as the dependent and psychosocial factors at work as the independent variables. All models were adjusted for age, BMI, general health and physical work load. Hazard Ratios (HR) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI), which can be interpreted as estimates of prevalence ratios ¹⁰, were determined. All analyses were performed with the SAS 9.3 software (SAS Institute Inc.)

Paper II

Inclinometer measurements were sampled synchronously at 32 Hz and stored. Trunk inclination was computed in the forward (FP) (i.e., trunk flexion in the sagittal plane) and lateral (sideways) projection (LP) (i.e., lateral flexion in the frontal plane). The angle of the upper arm was calculated relative to the vertical plane. The raw inclinometer data were subsequently down-sampled to 20 Hz and processed using software developed at the Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Lund University, Sweden ^{30, 33}.

As suggested by Kazmierczak et al. ⁵⁰, postures were grouped as cumulative distribution percentiles (10^{th} , 50^{th} , 90^{th} and 99^{th}). The overall duration of extreme postures (percentage time with the back flexed at >60° or the arms elevated >60°), time at rest (percentage time with trunk flexion or the arms elevated < 20° and movement velocity < 5°s^{-1}), periods of 'micro-recovery'

(the number of separate periods (>3 s) per minute in a neutral posture (< 20°)) and proportion of time spent working at high (>90°s⁻¹) or low (<5°s⁻¹) angular velocity for at least three consecutive seconds were calculated. The difference between the 90th and 10th posture percentiles served as a measure of the variation in exposure, percentile range ⁶⁷.

Daily posture exposures were measured for each worker and averaged across the days of measurement and a group mean calculated. Intra-individual (between days) and inter-individual variances (between subjects) were estimated. Exposure variability was expressed in terms of the standard deviation (SD) between subjects (SD_{BS}) and between days within subject (SD_{BD}). A Wilcoxon rank-sum test was used to compare trunk and upper arm postures and velocity for baggage handlers working on the ramp versus in the sorting area. All statistical analyses were performed with the statistical JMP software, version 10.0 (SAS Institute Inc., NC, USA) and statistical significance was assumed for p ≤ 0.05 .

Paper III

In Study III, the independent variables *time in extreme* arm posture, *time in neutral* arm posture, and number of *aircraft handled* were processed as in study II, while *influence* and *support* were analysed as in study I.

Analysis of work tasks

The variable *aircraft handled* were determined and summarized with a customized computer video analysis tool, ATM 3.0²⁵. The activities performed were categorized as 'ramp inside' or 'ramp outside', with three activities; on their way out/waiting (walking around waiting for colleagues, getting dressed), recovery (eating, drinking coffee, socialising, watching TV, playing cards), and administration belonging to the former and five; driving vehicles, manually pushing/pulling baggage carts, arrival/departure (directing aircrafts, placing auxiliary power cables, brake bumpers and stairs into place), loading/unloading aircraft on the ground and inside compartment and garage work (in smaller airports) to the latter. The characteristics of 'ramp outside' activities were used to describe the contents of the variable *aircraft handled*.

Descriptive data on the participants, level of exposure and ratings of pain across shifts were presented as means and SD. Potential differences between ramp and sort workers with respect to age and work experience were examined using t-tests.

Potential associations between the outcome *daily pain* and the exposure variables *aircraft handled, time in extreme* shoulder postures, *time in neutral* shoulder postures, *influence* and *support* were analysed by linear regression. Since repeated measurements on some of the workers were included, Generalized Estimating Equations (GEE) were applied to account for withinsubject correlations. First, univariate associations between *daily pain* intensity and each of the variables age, shoulder pain before the shift, number of *aircraft handled, time in extreme* posture, *time in neutral* posture, *influence* and *support* were determined independently for the right and left upper arm for use in the analyses of right and left shoulder pain, respectively. Seniority was strongly correlated with age and was, therefore, not analysed separately.

Secondly, we determined the association between *daily pain* intensity and the biomechanical factors found to be significant in the univariate analyses, i.e., number of *aircraft handled* and *time in extreme* posture for ramp workers and *time in extreme* posture for sort workers. Both models also included age and prior shoulder pain as potential confounders. In a final GEE model, we included all variables assumed to be associated with *daily pain* intensity in order to assess the combined effects of biomechanical and psychosocial factors, adjusting for confounding. All analyses were performed with the SPSS v. 22 software (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL).

Paper IV

The process items *recruitment, context, reach, dose delivered, dose received* and *satisfaction*, as well as barriers and facilitators were described (Table 3).

The telephone interviews were transcribed and quotations describing the ten barriers and facilitators retrieved and organized by a member of the research team. A second researcher, familiar with the training program and the implementation process, also evaluated the transcribed interviews, extracting key quotations concerning barriers and facilitators. These two researchers first worked independently and then met to reach consensus concerning interpretation of the major findings.

In the case of the intermediate outcomes *skills, confidence* and *behaviour*, differences between ratings before and after the intervention were tested for a systematic change using the Wilcoxon Signed Rank test, with estimation of the non-parametric 95% confidence interval for the median differences by the Hodges-Lehmann procedure. Differences in the ratings by the different KP groups were analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test. Statistical analyses were performed in the SPSS v. 22 software (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL) and to compensate for multiple testing, the level of significance was set at p<0.01.

Results

Prevalence of pain (Paper I)

The response rate in Study I was 65%; and of the baggage handlers who answered the questionnaire, 98% were men and 2% were women. The oneyear prevalence of LBP and SP were 70% and 60% respectively, with nearly half (45%) of our subjects reporting that they had experienced both. LBP interfered with work (30%) more often than shoulder pain (18%) and LBP intensity was high (30%) more often than SP intensity (28%).

Work-related psychosocial work factors (Paper I)

The scores for work-related psychosocial factors indicated greatest dissatisfaction with the *quality of leadership* and (lack of) *influence at work*, while the baggage handlers were most satisfied with the social community at work. This pattern was the same for all ratings of pain intensity and interference with work. At the same time baggage handlers reporting no pain (n=79) expressed higher satisfaction with their psychosocial working conditions.

Regression analyses adjusted for age, BMI, general health and physical workload revealed that a low rating (dissatisfaction) in the domain *Work organization and job content* was significantly associated with PIW in both LBP and SP (Adjusted Hazard Ratios 3.65 (95% CI 1.67-7.99) and 2.68 (1.09-6.61)); while low rating in the domain *Interpersonal relations and leadership* was significantly associated with LBP PIW (HR 2.18 (1.06-4.49)) and with PINT LBP and SP (HR 1.95 (1.05-3.65) and 2.11 (1.08-4.12)).

Workers with a more negative opinion about their work organization and job content were more likely to experience pain that interfered with work (PIW) (Table 4) and workers with a more negative attitude concerning relationships at work were more likely to experience more intense pain (PINT) (Table 5).

Table 4. Hazard ratios (HR) with 95% confidence intervals for associations of psychosocial factors with pain interfering with work (PIW) in the low back (LBP) and shoulder (SP) during the preceding year. All analyses were adjusted for age, BMI, general health and physical work load. Significant HRs marked in boldface.

		LBP PIW		SP PIW
	HR	95%CI	HR	95%CI
Work organization, job content			-	
Influence at work	1.60	0.83-3.09	2.12	0.98-4.57
Possibilities for development	2.86	1.32-6.18	2.63	1.06-6.51
Variation	2.31	1.08-4.94	1.33	0.55-3.20
Meaning of work	2.76	1.35-5.61	2.06	0.86-4.91
Commitment to the workplace	2.39	1.15-4.95	1.44	0.63-3.29
Interpersonal relations				
Predictability	1.94	0.94-3.98	1.44	0.62-3.37
Recognition	2.67	1.33-5.35	2.57	1.11-5.95
Role clarity	1.61	0.76-3.40	1.05	0.45-2.46
Role conflicts	1.25	0.58-2.72	2.08	0.81-5.30
Quality of leadership	1.77	0.82-3.82	1.22	0.51-2.94
Social support from colleagues	2.48	1.16-5.29	4.06	1.55-10.65
Social support from supervisors	2.22	1.08-4.58	1.33	0.60-2.95
Social community at work	0.85	0.42-1.73	1.47	0.67-3.25
Work organization	3.65	1.67-7.99	2.68	1.09-6.61
Interpersonal relations	2.18	1.06-4.49	2.09	0.88-4.96

		LBP PINT		SP PINT
	HR	95%CI	HR	95%CI
Work organization, job content				
Influence at work	1.46	0.86-2.46	1.43	0.83-2.46
Possibilities for development	0.99	0.53-1.84	1.07	0.54-2.11
Variation	0.97	0.53-1.79	0.89	0.47-1.69
Meaning of work	1.02	0.56-1.86	1.57	0.83-2.97
Commitment to the workplace	1.17	0.65-2.10	1.55	0.84-2.88
Interpersonal relations				<u>.</u>
Predictability	1.59	0.88-2.88	1.70	0.91-3.17
Recognition	1.58	0.88-2.48	1.83	0.98-3.41
Role clarity	2.07	1.08-3.95	1.81	0.94-3.50
Role conflicts	1.17	0.61-2.24	1.76	0.88-3.53
Quality of leadership	1.76	0.91-3.42	0.98	0.50-1.95
Social support from colleagues	1.08	0.57-2.03	1.79	0.92-3.49
Social support from supervisors	1.24	0.67-2.28	0.96	0.51-1.80
Social community at work	1.61	0.89-2.93	2.21	1.18-4.13
Work organization	1.22	0.66-2.24	1.30	0.69-2.44
Interpersonal relations	1.95	1.05-3.65	2.11	1.08-4.12

Table 5. Hazard ratios (HR) with 95% CI for associations of psychosocial factors with high intensity pain (PINT) in the low back (LBP) and shoulder (SP) during the preceding year. All analyses were adjusted for age, BMI, general health and physical work load. Significant HRs marked in boldface.

Physical working conditions (Paper II)

The INC data demonstrated that the baggage handlers had their trunk flexed forward $>60^{\circ}$ during 2% of their total working time (Table 6), with 71% of this time being spent in a neutral posture ($<20^{\circ}$) and a 90th percentile forward flexion of 34° (Table 6).

On the average, the baggage handlers worked with their arms elevated $>60^{\circ}$ (the right slightly more than the left) during 6% of their total working time, with the right and left arms in a neutral posture ($<20^{\circ}$) for 30% and 32% of this time, respectively (Table 6).

For the right and left arms, the 90th percentile elevation angle was 52° and the 50^{th} percentile movement velocity $11^{\circ}s^{-1}$.

Both the trunk and arms exhibited more pronounced variability between subjects (SD_{BS}) than between days within subjects (SD_{BD}) (Table 6).

High exposure of the trunk (90th and 99th percentiles, duration of extreme postures, high velocity) and right arm (99th percentile and time spent at >90° elevation) to risk factors was greater among workers on the ramp than those in the sorting area.

Table 6. Trunk and upper arm postures and movements for 27 baggage handlers. Group mean values with standard deviations between subjects (SD_{BS}) and between days within subject (SD_{BD}) . Results based on 79 full shifts. FP=Forward projection (trunk flexion in the sagittal plane), SP=Side-way projection (lateral flexion in the frontal plane). For SP, positive values denote bending to the right.

Exposure		Trunk		Upper arn	n
-		FP	SP	Right	Left
Posture					
10th percentile, °					
	Mean	-2.0	-8.5	12.3	11.9
	SD _{BS}	3.1	1.4	3.0	2.4
	SD_{BD}	3.5	1.7	3.0	3.7
50th percentile, °					
-	Mean	10.2	0.6	28.2	27.3
	SD_{BS}	4.8	1.3	5.5	5.9
	SD_{BD}	3.9	1.1	4.6	4.9
90th percentile, °	55				
	Mean	34.1	9.4	51.8	52.0
	SD_{BS}	7.9	2.1	5.6	6.8
	SD_{BD}	4.8	1.9	4.7	5.2
99th percentile, °	60				
	Mean	69.7	23.3	89.3	85.4
	SD_{BS}	11.8	2.5	9.3	10.1
	SD_{BD}	9.1	3.1	6.7	6.1
Percentile range (10th-90th), °	55				
	Mean	36.1	17.9	39.5	40.0
	SD_{BS}	8.1	1.6	3.6	4.2
	SD_{BD}	5.1	2.0	4.4	5.5
Time in neutral (<20°), %	55				
	Mean	70.8	98.2	30.3	32.4
	SD_{BS}	10.3	0.7	11.6	12.9
	SD_{BD}	7.8	0.8	10.7	11.3
Time in extreme (>60°), %					
	Mean	2.1	0	6.4	6.3
	SD _{BS}	1.1	-	3.2	3.2
	SD_{BD}	1.1	-	1.8	2.4
Time in extreme (>90°), %	55				
	Mean	0.4	0	1.1	0.88
	SD_{BS}	0.3	-	0.59	0.49
	SD_{BD}	0.3	-	0.39	0.46
Frequency of 'periods (>3 s)	55				
in a neutral posture', min ⁻¹	Mean	1.6	1.3	0.53	0.59
▲ ·	SD _{BS}	0.30	0.34	0.41	0.44
	SD_{BD}	0.31	0.34	0.27	0.29

Movement velocity 10th percentile, $^{\circ}s^{-1}$					
	Mean	0.61	0.65	0.80	0.80
	SD_{BS}	0.43	0.45	0.57	0.58
	SD_{BD}	0.43	0.46	0.57	0.58
50th percentile, °s ⁻¹					
-	Mean	7.7	8.4	10.9	10.6
	SD_{BS}	1.4	1.6	2.4	2.6
	SD_{BD}	1.9	2.3	3.0	3.2
90th percentile, °s ⁻¹					
	Mean	51.0	59.6	79.3	76.3
	SD_{BS}	6.4	6.9	10.9	11.4
	SD_{BD}	7.9	8.7	11.3	11.5
99th percentile, °s ⁻¹					
	Mean	140.3	160.4	217.2	211.7
	SD_{BS}	18.4	16.0	26.8	29.8
	SD_{BD}	11.2	13.8	21.7	20.6
Time at low velocity (<5°s ⁻¹					
for >3 s), %	Mean	10.1	10.1	10.1	10.2
	SD_{BS}	7.8	7.8	7.8	7.7
	SD_{BD}	6.9	6.9	6.9	7.1
Time at high velocity (>90°s					
¹) %	Mean	3.8	4.9	8.3	7.8
	SD_{BS}	1.1	1.1	1.8	1.8
	SD_{BD}	0.9	1.2	1.8	1.9
Posture and movement					
Time at rest ($<20^{\circ}$ AND $<5^{\circ}s^{-1}$					
¹). %	Mean	31.2	41.2	15.7	16.6
/ 2	SDps	8.5	5.1	7.1	7.4
	SD _{BD}	6.4	6.1	7.6	7.7

Shoulder pain during work (Paper III)

The intensity of *daily pain* increased during approximately one-third of all shifts, more frequently for ramp than sorting work. Many baggage handlers experienced no pain, neither before nor after the work shift (38% and 42% absence of pain in the right and left arms, respectively). An additional 10% reported identical levels of pain before and after the shift, so that 50% of all shifts were associated with no change in pain in either shoulder.

The video-recordings revealed that handling aircraft constituted 48% of the ramp work. The mean number handled during a shift was 6 (range 2-12) and the mean time for handling 28 minutes (range 7-52).

On the average, sorting workers had lower ratings of pain both before and after work than ramp workers and a larger proportion of sorting shifts was associated with unchanged pain (p=0.04 and p=0.09 for the right and left shoulder, respectively).

Among ramp workers, *daily pain* in both the right and left shoulder was significantly associated with the number of *aircraft handled*, pain increased for each aircraft handled by 1.29 mm (95% CI 0.11-2.47) and 1.60 mm (0.44-2.76) for the right and left shoulders, respectively. Among sort workers, pain intensity increased by 0.55 mm (0.18-0.92) with each percent of time with *work in extreme* arm posture, but only for the right arm. This effect remained significant in a multivariate analysis including the psychosocial factors *influence* at work and *support* from colleagues. For sort workers, *daily pain* was associated with the duration of *time in extreme* postures, but this effect did not remain significant in a multivariate analysis (Table 7 and 8).

Implementation of an ergonomic intervention (Paper IV)

The implementation proved feasible with respect to three of the six evaluation variables, i.e., *dose delivered, dose received* and *satisfaction*. The intervention was delivered as originally planned and 60-86% of the participants rated themselves as engaged to a large extent, considered the knowledge to be useful, thought that they would get use for and practice their new knowledge, and were able and would have the opportunity to transfer this knowledge to colleagues. The participants were more satisfied with the time allocated to the Human Factor training (80%) than to the Ergonomics training (58%). Both were rated as relevant and satisfaction with the content was 88-91%.

The intermediate outcomes, confidence in using and talking about the loading devices, observed use of these devices by colleagues, and internal feedback on work behavior, all improved significantly (p<0.01).

The factors identified as facilitators of a successful implementation were all in the category of *trainee characteristics*, i.e., *self-efficacy*, *motivation*, *and perceived utility of training*.

The barriers belonged to the category of *work organization*, primarily *trans-fer climate*, lack of *training follow-up* and lack of explicit management policy and *support* regarding when and how to use loading assist devices. Since organisational changes, such as staff reduction, changes in work schedules and subsequent job insecurity were being carried out at the same time, the timing was another barrier.

ramp and sort shifts separately.	(n(d): numbe	r of shifts; Coefficients signi	ificantly differ	fing from 0 ($p<0.05$) are mark	ked in bold).	X
		AII		Ramp		Sort
Univariate	n(d)	B (95% CI)	n(d)	B (95% CI)	(p)u	B (95% CI)
Age	110	-0,09 (-0,27-0,08)	80	-0,02 (-3,33-10,30)	30	-0,28 (-0,63-0,07)
Shoulder pain before	112	-0,24 (-0,410,06)	82	-0,24 (-0,380,10)	30	-0,24 (-1,01-0,53)
Aircrafts handled	82	1,29 (0,11-2,47)	82	1,29 (0,11-2,47)		not included
Time in extreme	66	-0,03 (-0,25-0,19)	70	-0,22 (-0,420,03)	29	0,55 (0,18-0,92)
Time in neutral	66	-0,22 (-0,57-0,12)	70	-0,25 (-0,75-0,25)	29	-0,15 (-0,44-0,14)
Influence	96	-0,08 (-0,26-0,09)	72	-0,20 (-0,45-0,04)	24	0,10 (-0,09-0,29)
Support	96	0,10 (-0,08-0,28)	72	0,14 (0,08-0,36)	24	-0,10 (-0,25-0,05)
Model 1						
Age			68	0,21 (0,01-0,41)	29	-0,04 (-0,26-0,18)
Shoulder pain before			68	-0,32 (-0,480,16)	29	-0,17 (-0,86-0,51)
Aircrafts handled			68	1,85 (0,44-3,25)		not included
Time in extreme			68	-0,77 (-0,28-0,13)	29	0,50 (0,15-0,85)
Model 2						
Age			62	0,11 (-0,21-0,44)	23	-0,99 (-1,380,62)
Shoulder pain before			62	-0,24 (-0,400,08)	23	0,40 (-0,01-0,81)
Aircrafts handled			62	1,74 (0,41-3,07)		not included
Time in extreme			62	-0,29 (-0,63-0,05)	23	0,33 (-0,04-0,70)
Time in neutral			62	-0,43 (-0,94-0,09)	23	-0,49 (-0,780,20)
Influence			62	-0,45 (-0,830,06)	23	0,03 (-0,21-0,28)
Support			62	0,33 (0,01-0,66)	23	-0,27 (-0,410,14)

Table 7. Univariate and multivariate associations between biomechanical and psychosocial factors and daily pain for the **right shoulder** for all shifts, and for

37

Table 8. Univariate and multival ramp and sort shifts separately.	riate associatio (n(d): number	ns between biomechanical <i>z</i> of shifts; Coefficients signi	ind psychosoc	ial factors and <i>daily pain</i> for ing from 0 (p<0.05) are mark	the left shou ked in bold).	lder for all shifts, and for
		AII		Ramp		Sort
Univariate	n(d)	B (95% CI)	u(d)	B (95% CI)	u(d)	B (95% CI)
Age	109	-0,04 (-0,25-0,17)	80	-0,05 (-0,31-0,21)	29	0,20 (-0,16-0,55)
Shoulder pain before	111	-0,33 (-0,550,11)	82	-0,37 (-0,610,12)	29	-0,24 (-0,79-0,31)
Aircrafts handled	82	1,60 (0,44-2,76)	82	1,60 (0,44-2,76)		Not included
Time in extreme	98	-0,26 (-0,57-0,05)	70	-0,28 (0,56-0,00)	28	-0,30 (-1,27-0,67)
Time in neutral	98	-0,03 (-0,43-0,37)	70	-0,14 (-0,76-0,48)	28	0,18 (-0,18-0,54)
Influence	95	-0,08 (-0,25-0,09)	72	-0,20 (-0,47-0,07)	23	0,09 (-0,03-0,20)
Support	95	0,14 (-0,06-0,34)	72	0,20 (-0,05-0,44)	23	-0,11 (-0,24-0,02)
Model 1						
Age			68	0,00 (-0,20-0,20)	28	0,32 (-0,06-0,71)
Shoulder pain before			68	-0,45 (-0,640,27)	28	-0,34 (-0,660,01)
Aircrafts handled			68	1,76 (0,50-3,03)		not included
Time in extreme Model 2			68	0,09 (-0,17-0,35)	28	-0,16 (-0,70-1,02)
Age			62	-0,01 (-0,38-0,36)	22	-0,42 (-0,650,18)
Shoulder pain before			62	-0,44 (-0,640,23)	22	0,28 (0,16-0,39)
Aircrafts handled			62	1,50 (0,40-2,60)		not included
Time in extreme			62	-0,03 (-0,37- 0,32)	22	0,16 (-0,21-0,52)
Time in neutral			62	-0,11 (-0,74-0,52)	22	0,07 (-0,06-0,21)
Influence			62	-0,46 (-0,820,10)	22	0,12 (0,07-0,18)
Support			62	0,38 (0,03-0,72)	22	-0,09 (-0,140,04)

Discussion

A substantial number of the airline baggage handlers experienced pain in their lower back and shoulders, with LBP interfering with work to a greater extent than SP, and this pain was associated with psychosocial factors in the working environment.

The prevalence of low back (70%) and shoulder pain (60%) were higher than in the general population and indeed higher than those reported previously for workers performing manual handling, e.g., scaffolders (60% and 50%, respectively)²², ambulance workers (60% and 46%)¹, and industrial workers (LBP 52%)⁴². Almost 20% and one-third of our workers reported that SP or LBP, respectively, interfered with their work, which was also more than reported for scaffolders (LBP 21%) and ambulance workers (LBP 23% and SP 7%). One possible explanation is that it may be easier to compensate for potentially dangerous postures in connection with ambulance work or engaging in tasks other than lifting and carrying equipment and patients.

Physical working conditions

The video recording in Study III revealed that baggage handlers spend 48% of their working shifts loading/unloading aircraft, driving vehicles, pushing/pulling baggage carts, directing aircraft and putting auxiliary power cables, brake bumpers and stairs into place, tasks assumed to involve heavy lifting as well as awkward postures and movements. Among Danish airline baggage handlers, more frequent MSDs reflected seniority ¹¹ and an elevated incidence of shoulder disorders could be explained by cumulative years of employment ¹⁰².

The assessment of work postures and movements in Study II showed that the baggage handlers spent 6.4% of their working time with their arms in extreme postures (>60°), a value lower than that reported for e.g., for car disassembly workers (15%) ⁵⁰ and large-herd dairy parlor workers (17%) ²¹. A reasonable hypothesis in this connection is that the active periods of aircraft handled are separated by periods of moderate activity or even rest. The 90th percentile for arm posture was also lower in the case of baggage handlers (52°) than car disassembly workers (72°) and large-herd dairy parlor

workers (72°), but similar to several other service occupations, including material kitting (52°) ¹⁵, dentistry (53°) ⁴³, cleaning (53° -54°) ¹⁰⁵ and meat cutting (58°) ⁵.

The peak movement velocity of baggage handlers (79° s⁻¹) was moderate in comparison to that of cleaners (193° s⁻¹) ¹⁰⁵, large-herd dairy parlor workers (148° s⁻¹) ²¹, hairdressers (104° s⁻¹) ¹⁰⁷, car disassembly workers (101° s⁻¹) ⁵⁰ and poultry processing workers (98° s⁻¹) ⁴⁶. The smaller arm angel and peak velocity of baggage handlers may reflect the force required to handle heavy bags.

The percentage duration of "extreme" trunk posture (>60°) for baggage handlers was 2.1%. In prospective cohort studies, trunk flexion of more than 60° for longer than 5% of the shift³⁷ and trunk flexion of more than 30° for longer than 10% ³⁹ were associated with an increased risk of LBP. Although the duration of 60° trunk inclination was shorter, our 90th percentile trunk flexion was 34° and baggage handlers probably performed more heavy lifting than the limit suggested by Hoogendoorn and co-workers (i.e., a maximum of 25 kg not more than 15 times during the shift)³⁷.

Ramp workers had more extreme postures and greater variation in trunk inclination than sort workers. This observation was confirmed by informal conversations with baggage handlers who claimed that sort work was physically easier. We could see ourselves that handling procedures in the sort area are not as severely constrained and can be adjusted to a greater extent than on the ramp and, in addition, more lifting aids were available for sorting. This may indicate that sort work is less physically demanding and that it is easier to remain being a sort worker, or you become a sort worker, with seniority as a baggage handler.

It would appear that, varying between ramp and sort work would be beneficial with respect to musculoskeletal disorders. The variation in work that reduces MSD optimally is not known at present ^{60, 63}, but variation itself is necessary for a job to be considered ergonomically acceptable ⁶⁶.

Baggage handling appears to involve periods with activities that demand more force and in study III, the number of aircraft handled was associated with pain. Pain increased in approximately one-third of all the shifts measured, less in the case of sort. This increase was only 2.5 mm and 1.9 mm for right and left shoulder, respectively, but no other report of associations between daily pain and daily exposure to risk factors in a comparable population could be found. Andersen and colleagues ⁴ found that low back pain among workers at supermarkets was increased by 0.55 units on a (0-10 scale) on the morning after a after a workday and moreover, consecutive

workdays exerted a cumulative impact on pain. Despite the study differences, while that study addressed low-back pain and found a more pronounced effect, we believe our results to be in the same direction.

Psychosocial working conditions

In addition to the physically strenuous tasks involved in airline baggage handling, we found dissatisfaction with psychosocial factors, i.e., personal relations, leadership, support, influence and the organization of work (Paper I). Shoulder pain that interfered with work demonstrated a particularly strong association with social support from colleagues, in agreement with the conclusions of several reviews ^{35, 37, 124}. Low back complaints and limitation of activity were also associated with social support from colleagues and supervisors.

One interpretation of these findings is that support from colleagues may enable the worker, despite pain, to plan and perform tasks in an efficient manner with reduced physical effort. In contrast, lack of support or influence may give rise to pressure and stress and thereby contribute to elevated muscle tension, blood and metabolic disturbances, and a subsequently enhanced risk of developing or further aggravating pain ⁶⁵. This proposal corresponds to the claim by Woods ¹²⁴ that lack of social support is associated with restricted activity and absenteeism, as well as lower probability of returning to work.

Implementation of an ergonomic intervention

The intervention was delivered as planned and satisfaction among the participants was high. However, the training did not lead to the desired general improvement in work performance by the baggage handlers.

The positive effects on the intermediate outcomes, with changes in the confidence and work behavior of the key individuals who participated may have been due to and facilitated by the characteristics of these individuals, the recruited trainees. Although the recruitment was not successful in terms of reach, the recruitment of dedicated and motivated trainees was a particularly important facilitator. Their key roles in the company may have enhanced their motivation to learn and practice new skills, as well as their perception of the utility of training. Indeed, previous studies indicate that with strong motivation trainees high self-efficacy ¹¹³ and previous experience of tools and ergonomic advantage of using devices ¹¹² are prerequisite for effective transfer of trained skills to the worksite ²⁷. Recruiting the right team members, workers, supervisors and specialists with the appropriate skills and knowledge and representing larger groups at the worksite appears to be effective 109 .

The desired increase in the use of loading assist devices was not observed, according to participants because of a lack of manager support and time for practicing in realistic situations and problem solving. The importance of practice and extended periods of training for improving skills has been emphasized in the literature. Training attendance and eventual behavioral effects are facilitated if managers also undergo training and use rewards and sanctions in the work environment ⁹⁸. However, the lack of belief in the utility of training among our managers was verified in interviews. They were not convinced that more training would increase the use of devices and argued that the alleged time constraint for practice reflected priorities, rather than being a barrier in itself.

One of the major barriers here was the lack of "visible leadership", i.e., manager support in connection with providing feedback to workers who break the rules concerning the use of loading devices. Visible leadership is key to the promotion of productivity and good health in an organization ⁵⁸. Better integration of managers is vital to the success of future interventions designed to improve baggage handling.

Another barrier related to the present training design was a lack of followup. Organizational restructuring and staff reduction, previously reported to be important in this context ⁷³, were barriers beyond the control of the implementer.

Potential confounders

Data on the potential confounders age, BMI, general health and physical work load were collected and these were controlled for in the analyses of Study I. Since only 2% of the participants were women, gender was not controlled for. Leisure-time physical activity may act as a confounder in a study like ours and we did not collect any information about this.

The conclusion in Study III that the number of aircraft handled is associated with daily shoulder pain, assumes that exposure to risk factors is similar at different airports, even if we suspect that this is not the case. However, stratified analyses designed to control for potential confounding factors such as differences in types of aircraft, availability of loading devices and the amount of baggage checked in were not possible because of the low number of measurements performed at all the airports except one.

Methodological considerations

Since a cross-sectional design was used in Study I, the relationship presented must be interpreted with great caution. No conclusions concerning causality can be drawn because of the difficulties involved in determining temporal relationships between exposure and outcome when all data are collected at the same time 6 .

The response rate in Study I was 65%, which is considered acceptable for minimizing the risk of selection bias. At the same time, we did not have any information about the non-participants and could therefore not compare them to the participants. Pain could have been a motivating factor for participation and, indeed, with such studies non-participants typically experience less pain than participants ⁸⁰. On the other hand, employees on sick leave did not participate, which may have led to an underrepresentation of pain in our results.

The baggage handlers in Study I were compared to the general population, which includes both healthy and unhealthy individuals. Since this occupation requires good physical condition workers who develop MSDs may quit, leading to so called "healthy worker effect" and an underestimated risk of developing MSDs. However, in light of the considerable prevalence of MSDs in our study, this does not appear to be the case here. Furthermore, the annual turnover of the workforce in the companies participating was reported to be less than 5%.

In attempt to maximize participation baggage handlers were asked to complete the questionnaires at work. We acknowledge the attributable risk involved here, i.e., the risk of overestimating the prevalence and intensity of pain, as well as the perception of pain interfering with work ¹⁷.

Job titles are often used to describe occupations. In Studies II and III we described baggage handling with good internal validity on the basis of objective measurements of biomechanical exposure, video recordings and diaries documenting work tasks performed on the same day. In Study III pain intensity was assessed immediately before and after the shift being measured, thereby eliminating the risk of recall bias.

Postural inclination was measured relative to gravity, so that inclination of the arm in relationship to the trunk was not determined. One limitation of this standard approach is that it does not discriminate between elevation in the frontal and sagittal planes. Furthermore, shoulder elevation is dependent on trunk posture, so with the trunk bending forward, arm elevation appears to be lower relative to the line of gravity. We were not allowed to analyze the occurrence of heavy manual handling involving awkward postures and movements, which is likely to constitute a particular risk with respect to MSDs, especially for the low back ⁹². Estimating muscle force during heavy loading by electromyography (EMG) ¹⁰³, would have been interesting but was unfortunately, not feasible.

Our process evaluation focused on factors that influence intervention implementation under realistic less-than-ideal circumstances ⁵⁵. Extensive information was collected systematically and the approach to barriers and facilitators was based on a theoretical framework, which has been lacking in much previous research on implementation ^{83, 117}. Comparison to a reference organization would have been desirable, but was not possible in this case. The changes in the intermediate outcomes observed should therefore be interpreted with caution.

Conclusions

Although our study designs do not permit conclusions regarding causal relationships, our findings indicate that dissatisfaction with psychosocial factors, along with awkward working postures may partially explain pain in baggage handlers.

The prevalence of LBP and SP among baggage handlers was high, 70% and 60%, respectively, with 45% of workers experiencing both forms of pain. LBP interfered with work (30%) to a greater extent than shoulder pain (18%). Dissatisfaction was highest with the quality of leadership and lack of influence at work, while baggage handlers were most satisfied with their social community at work. Intense pain and pain that interfered with work were associated with psychosocial factors related to work organization, job content, interpersonal relations and leadership.

Extreme postures with arms elevated >60° occurred for 6.4% of the total time, and in trunk flexion >60° for 2.1% of the total time. In contrast, 71% of time was spent in a neutral trunk posture. The 90th percentile trunk forward flexion was 34.1°. The duration of time spent in peak (>90°) upper arm elevation and trunk FP angles was higher in ramp than sort workers. Both the trunk and arms exhibited more pronounced variability between subjects (SD_{BS}) than within subjects between days (SD_{BD}).

Daily shoulder pain increased during approximately one-third of all shifts and was significantly associated with the number of aircraft handled for ramp workers, and with time in extreme postures for sort workers; in both cases, SP was modified by influence and support. The program implementation proved feasible with respect to the dose delivered, dose received and satisfaction. Participants confidence increased concerning the use of - and talk about - loading devices, observed use of these devices by colleagues, and feedback about work behavior. One important implementation facilitator was motivated trainees, while barriers included lack of manager support, opportunities to observe and practice, and followup activities, as well as staff reduction and job insecurity.

Future perspectives

Variation in biomechanical exposure is important for minimizing the risk of developing musculoskeletal disorders. Knowledge on specific exposure data occurring during the different work tasks comprising aircraft handling would help prioritize required interventions and design effective interventions aimed at preventing musculoskeletal disorders and promoting good health. Furthermore, this knowledge would permit the design of appropriate job rotation strategies to introduce exposure variation throughout the work day resulting in altered temporal loading patterns and the possibility to change individual workloads. This variation in work could not only prevent workers from developing MSDs, but also reduce early retirement due to MSDs.

Work exposure varies across time, as does individual discomfort and pain. To understand how biomechanical exposure modulates pain, data on changes in exposure and in pain are required at more regular intervals than have been collected to date (ex. every 1 - 2 years), and over longer time periods than in our study III, which measured on only one day. Such data would enable analyses of determinants for the incidence of musculoskeletal disorders and also the consideration of chronic pain.

The process of transferring research findings into practice needs to be more effective than current practice. Implementation challenges can be better overcome and intervention effectiveness can be increased with a better understanding of the process. Future dissemination and implementation research should aim at determining and investigating factors that influence the extent to which implementation of interventions occurs in different organizations and how these factors influence adoption of the intervention. There is also a need to understand organizational readiness for change and the impact that will have on implementation and intervention success.

Acknowledgements

My journey as a doctoral student has in many different ways been the most challenging years of my life! The path has been anything but straight. However, most of what I have learned about research and life I wouldn't want to be without and I could never have learned it in any other way!

Also, it would never have been possible without the support I have received. I have been privileged to learn from, work together with and be supported by so many talented, helpful and friendly people! I would like to thank all of you who have been a part of my working life during these years and, in particular, I would like to thank:

My supervisors and scientific models, Svend Erik Mathiassen, Eva Vingård and Lydia Kwak; thank you for inspiring me with your valuable knowledge and experience, advising and supporting me the whole way, and when I needed it most, in your complementary ways.

Reidar Pettersson and Erik Alphonse, TYA, and Danne Holmberg, Transportfacken, for great collaboration, for sharing all your knowledge about the flying industry, for joyful meetings, good laughs and hard work together at the airports. I am also grateful to all respondents and companies that participated in the research of this thesis.

All of my co-authors on the papers included in this thesis: Jens Wahlström, Jennie Jackson, Catherine Trask, Mikael Forsman and Johan Larsson. I also wish to acknowledge Nisse Larsson and Majken Rahm for technical and administrative support.

My colleagues at AMM Uppsala, for a supporting work environment during my visits and, in particular Tobias Nordquist for help with statistics and Peter Palm for collaborations.

All my friends and colleagues at CBF Gävle and Umeå, my present and former fellow PhD students, for sharing a stimulating, cheerful, productive and supporting work environment, and especially David, Per, Helena, Marina, Birgitta, Johan, Sven, Hasse, Per Liv, Tomas R, Åsa, Tina, Monica, Mamunur, Elena, Susanna, Johanna, Sofie and Bozana. My closest fellows, Jennie and Camilla, this journey would not have been possible without your support and encouragement, special thanks!

All of my trusting friends, wondering where I have been and, in particular, what I have been doing all these years. Thank you for still being there.

My beloved family, Mom and Dad, sister and brother with your families, for your endless love and support, for always being there, for taking care of my kids, I could never have done this without you! Anders, Ebba, Axel and Erik, for constantly reminding me that life has several dimensions, you are adorable with your enormous patience and kindliness towards me, you made this possible!

... och Erik, jag är så glad att du kom till världen under den här resan och på ett exemplariskt sätt förgyllde tillvaron på arbetet som en trogen 'cbf-bebis' under dina första månader i livet - ingenting är omöjligt©!

Sammanfattning på svenska

Att lasta flygplan anses vara ett tungt manuellt arbete med en ökad risk att drabbas av belastningsrelaterade besvär till följd av ogynnsamma arbetsställningar och tung manuell hantering. Inom Transportfacken har man registrerat en ökning av besvär, men samtidigt haft svårigheter att driva sjukpenning- och arbetsskadeärenden på grund av att kunskapen om arbetet och dess belastningar är relativt okända. Ett projekt inleddes för att kartlägga, förebygga och minska riskerna för belastningsrelaterade besvär.

Syftet med den här avhandlingen var att undersöka förekomsten av ländryggs- och axelbesvär samt den fysiska och psykosociala arbetsmiljöns betydelse för risken att drabbas av besvär. Syftet var också att utvärdera implementeringen av en ergonomisk intervention, baserad på resultat som ingår i avhandlingen, som syftade till att öka användningen av arbetsredskap.

Ett frågeformulär besvarades av 525 flygplanslastare på sex flygplatser och användes för att studera smärta och psykosociala faktorer. Arbetsställningar för rygg och armar mättes med inklinometer på 55 personer under 114 hela arbetsskift. Före och efter skiftet skattades ländryggs och axelsmärta och under skiftet noterade lastarna antalet flygplan som lastades respektive lossades i en dagbok. Samband mellan biomekaniska och psykosociala arbetsmiljö faktorer och smärta analyserades och implementeringen av den ergonomiska interventionen utvärderades med hjälp av enkäter och upprepade intervjuer.

Förekomsten av ländryggs- och axelbesvär var hög, 70% respektive 60% och smärta som påverkade arbetet förekom i större utsträckning för rygg (30%) än för axlar (18%). Av de psykosociala faktorerna var man mest missnöjd med ledarskap och inflytande och mest nöjd med kamratskapen på arbetsplatsen och det fanns signifikanta samband mellan besvär som påverkade arbetet och missnöje med den psykosociala arbetsmiljön. Extrema arbetsställningar, det vill säga arbete med armarna över 60° förekom under 6.4% av arbetstiden och med framåtböjd rygg mer än 60° under 2.1% av arbetstiden. Tiden för arbete i extrema arbetsställningar för rygg och armar var något längre för de som arbetade med att lasta/lossa flygplan på rampen än för de som arbetade i bagagesorteringen. Under en tredjedel av arbetsskiften ökade axelsmärtan och det fanns ett positivt samband mellan ökad smärta

och antalet flygplan som lastades/lossades under ett skift och arbete med armar i extrema arbetsställningar. Smärtan modifierades även av inflytande och kollegialt stöd på arbetsplatsen.

Flygplanslastarnas arbetsställningar var i nivå med andra yrkesgrupper inom manuell hantering som anses ha en ökad risk för belastningsrelaterade besvär. Våra resultat indikerar att såväl fysiska som psykosociala faktorer i arbetet är viktiga att ta hänsyn till vid planering och genomförande av interventioner för att minska och förebygga belastningsbesvär i den här branschen.

Utvärdering av implementeringen av interventionen visade att deltagarna var nöjda med innehåll och upplägg. De upplevde ökat självförtroende och ökad kunskap vad gäller användning och instruktion av arbetsredskap till kollegor samt en kortsiktig generell ökning av användningen. Målsättningen att öka användningen av arbetsredskap på lång sikt kunde dock inte observeras. Implementeringsfaktorer som var faciliterande var att rekrytera motiverade nyckelpersoner i organisationen medan hinder var upplevelsen av ett bristande ledarskap med en oklar policy vad gäller användningen av arbetsredskap. Stöd för att öva och lära under arbetstid samt uppföljning av interventionen saknades också. Tidpunkten visade sig vara dålig då organisatoriska förändringar som varsel av personal, förändringar i hur arbetet organiseras och en allmänt upplevd arbetsoro uppstod och hade varit svåra att förutspå.

References

- 1. Aasa, U., Barnekow-Bergkvist, M., Angquist, K.A., and Brulin, C. (2005) Relationships between Work-Related Factors and Disorders in the Neck-Shoulder and Low-Back Region among Female and Male Ambulance Personnel. *Journal of Occupational Health*, 47: 481-9.
- Andersen, J.H., Kaergaard, A., Mikkelsen, S., Jensen, U.F., Frost, P., Bonde, J.P., Fallentin, N., and Thomsen, J.F. (2003) Risk Factors in the Onset of Neck/Shoulder Pain in a Prospective Study of Workers in Industrial and Service Companies. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 60: 649-54.
- Andersen, L.L., Clausen, T., Burr, H., and Holtermann, A. (2012) Threshold of Musculoskeletal Pain Intensity for Increased Risk of Long-Term Sickness Absence among Female Healthcare Workers in Eldercare. *PLoS ONE*, 7: e41287.
- 4. Andersen, L.L., Fallentin, N., Ajslev, J.Z.N., Jakobsen, M.D., and Sundstrup, E. (2017) Association between Occupational Lifting and Day-to-Day Change in Low-Back Pain Intensity Based on Company Records and Text Messages. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment & Health*: 68-74.
- Arvidsson, I., Balogh, I., Hansson, G., Ohlsson, K., Åkesson, I., and Nordander, C. (2012) Rationalization in Meat Cutting – Consequences on Physical Workload. *Applied Ergonomics*, 43: 1026-32.
- 6. Aschengrau, A., and Seage Iii, G.R., *Essentials of Epidemiology in Public Health, Third Edition* (Jones & Bartlett Learning, LCC, 2014).
- Axén, I., Bodin, L., Bergström, G., Halasz, L., Lange, F., Lövgren, P.W., Rosenbaum, A., Leboeuf-Yde, C., and Jensen, I. (2012) The Use of Weekly Text Messaging over 6 Months Was a Feasible Method for Monitoring the Clinical Course of Low Back Pain in Patients Seeking Chiropractic Care. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 65: 454-61.
- 8. Baldwin, T.T., and Ford, J.K. (1988) Transfer of Training: A Review and Directions for Future Research. *Personnel Psychology*, 41: 43.
- 9. Baron, S., Hales, T., and Hurrell, J. (1996) Evaluation of Symptom Surveys for Occupational Musculoskeletal Disorders. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 29: 609-17.
- 10. Barros, A.J.D., and Hirakata, V.N. (2003) Alternatives for Logistic Regression in Cross-Sectional Studies: An Empirical Comparison of Models That Directly Estimate the Prevalence Ratio. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 3.
- Bern, S.H., Brauer, C., Møller, K.L., Koblauch, H., Thygesen, L.C., Simonsen, E.B., Alkjær, T., Bonde, J.P., and Mikkelsen, S. (2013) Baggage Handler Seniority and Musculoskeletal Symptoms: Is Heavy Lifting in Awkward Positions Associated with the Risk of Pain? *BMJ Open*, 3.
- 12. Bernmark, E., and Wiktorin, C. (2002) A Triaxial Accelerometer for Measuring Arm Movements. *Applied Ergonomics*, 33: 541-47.
- 13. Bongers, P.M., Kremer, A.M., and Laak, J.T. (2002) Are Psychosocial Factors, Risk Factors for Symptoms and Signs of the Shoulder, Elbow, or Hand/Wrist?:

A Review of the Epidemiological Literature. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 41: 315-42.

- 14. Bongers, P.M., Ijmker, S., Van Den Heuvel, S., and Blatter, B.M. (2006) Epidemiology of Work Related Neck and Upper Limb Problems: Psychosocial and Personal Risk Factors (Part I) and Effective Interventions from a Bio Behavioural Perspective (Part Ii). *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 16: 272-95.
- Christmansson, M., Medbo, L., Hansson, G.-Å., Ohlsson, K., Unge Byström, J., Möller, T., and Forsman, M. (2002) A Case Study of a Principally New Way of Materials Kitting - an Evaluation of Time Consumption and Physical Workload. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, 30: 49-65.
- 16. Da Costa, B.R., and Vieira, E.R. (2010) Risk Factors for Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders: A Systematic Review of Recent Longitudinal Studies. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 53: 285-323.
- 17. Davis, K.G., and Heaney, C.A. (2000) The Relationship between Psychosocial Work Characteristics and Low Back Pain: Underlying Methodological Issues. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 15: 389-406.
- 18. Deeney, C., and O'Sullivan, L. (2009) Work Related Psychosocial Risks and Musculoskeletal Disorders: Potential Risk Factors, Causation and Evaluation Methods. *Work*, 34: 239-48.
- 19. Dell, G. The Causes and Prevention of Airlinebaggage Handler Back Injuries: Safe Designs Required Where Behaviour and Administrative Solutions Have Had Limited Effect. (University of Ballarat, 2007).
- Descatha, A., Roquelaure, Y., Chastang, J.-F., Evanoff, B., Melchior, M., Mariot, C., Ha, C., Imbernon, E., Goldberg, M., and Leclerc, A. (2007) Validity of Nordic-Style Questionnaires in the Surveillance of Upper-Limb Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders. *Scandinavian Journal of Work*, *Environment & Health*, 33: 58-65.
- 21. Douphrate, D.I., Fethke, N.B., Nonnenmann, M.W., Rosecrance, J.C., and Reynolds, S.J. (2012) Full Shift Arm Inclinometry among Dairy Parlor Workers: A Feasibility Study in a Challenging Work Environment. *Applied Ergonomics*, 43: 604-13.
- 22. Elders, L.A., and Burdorf, A. (2001) Interrelations of Risk Factors and Low Back Pain in Scaffolders. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine*, 58: 597-603.
- 23. Engel, G.L. (1989) The Need for a New Medical Model: A Challenge for Biomedicine. *Holistic Medicine*, 4: 37-53.
- 24. Ferreira-Valente, M.A., Pais-Ribeiro, J.L., and Jensen, M.P. (2011) Validity of Four Pain Intensity Rating Scales. *PAIN*, 152: 2399-404.
- Forsman, M., Hansson, G.Å., Medbo, L., Asterland, P., and Engström, T. (2002) A Method for Evaluation of Manual Work Using Synchronised Video Recordings and Physiological Measurements. *Applied Ergonomics*, 33: 533-40.
- 26. Gallagher, S., and Heberger, J.R. (2013) Examining the Interaction of Force and Repetition on Musculoskeletal Disorder Risk: A Systematic Literature Review. *Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society*, 55: 108-24.
- 27. Grossman, R., and Salas, E. (2011) The Transfer of Training: What Really Matters. *International Journal of Training and Development*, 15: 103-20.
- 28. Group, A.T.A., Aviations Benefits Beyond Borders, (Geneva, Switzerland: 2014), p. 70.

- 29. Hagberg, M., Silverstein, B., Wells, R., Smith, M.J., Hendrick, H.W., Carayon, P., and Pérusse, M., *Work Related Musculoskeletal Disorders (Wmsds): A Reference Book for Prevention* (Great Britain: Taylor & Francis, 1995).
- Hansson, G.-Å., Balogh, I., Unge Byström, J., Ohlsson, K., Nordander, C., Asterland, P., Sjölander, S., Rylander, L., Winkel, J., and S, S. (2001) Questionnarie Versus Direct Technical Measurements in Assessing Postures and Movements of the Head, Upper Back, Arms and Hands. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 27: 33-40.
- 31. Hansson, G.-Å., Arvidsson, I., and Nordander, C., Riktvärden för att Bedöma Risken för Belastningsskador, Baserade på Tekniska Mätningar, (Arbets- och Miljömedicin, Lund: 2016).
- 32. Hansson, G.Å., Asterland, P., and Kellerman, M. (2003) Modular Data Logger System for Physical Workload Measurements. *Ergonomics*, 46: 407-15.
- 33. Hansson, G.Å., Arvidsson, I., Ohlsson, K., Nordander, C., Mathiassen, S.E., Skerfving, S., and Balogh, I. (2006) Precision of Measurements of Physical Workload During Standardised Manual Handling. Part Ii: Inclinometry of Head, Upper Back, Neck and Upper Arms. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 16: 125-36.
- Harkness, E.F., Macfarlane, G.J., Nahit, E.S., Silman, A.J., and Mcbeth, J. (2003) Mechanical and Psychosocial Factors Predict New Onset Shoulder Pain: A Prospective Cohort Study of Newly Employed Workers. *Occupational* and Environmental Medicine, 60: 850-57.
- 35. Hauke, A., Flintrop, J., Brun, E., and Rugulies, R. (2011) The Impact of Work-Related Psychosocial Stressors on the Onset of Musculoskeletal Disorders in Specific Body Regions: A Review and Meta-Analysis of 54 Longitudinal Studies. *Work & Stress*, 25: 243-56.
- 36. Hjermstad, M.J., Fayers, P.M., Haugen, D.F., Caraceni, A., Hanks, G.W., Loge, J.H., Fainsinger, R., Aass, N., and Kaasa, S. (2011) Studies Comparing Numerical Rating Scales, Verbal Rating Scales, and Visual Analogue Scales for Assessment of Pain Intensity in Adults: A Systematic Literature Review. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 41: 1073-93.
- 37. Hoogendoorn, W.E., Bongers, P.M., De Vet, H.C.W., Douwes, M., Koes, B.W., Miedema, M.C., Ariëns, G.a.M., and Bouter, L.M. (2000) Flexion and Rotation of the Trunk and Lifting at Work Are Risk Factors for Low Back Pain: Results of a Prospective Cohort Study. *Spine*, 25: 3087-92.
- 38. Hoogendoorn, W.E., Bongers, P.M., De Vet, H.C.W., Houtman, I.L., Ariens, G.A., Van Mechelen, W., and Bouter, L.M. (2001) Psychosocial Work Characteristics and Psychological Strain in Relation to Low-Back Pain. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 27: 258-67.
- Hoogendoorn, W.E., Bongers, P.M., De Vet, H.C.W., Ariëns, G.a.M., Van Mechelen, W., and Bouter, L.M. (2002) High Physical Work Load and Low Job Satisfaction Increase the Risk of Sickness Absence Due to Low Back Pain: Results of a Prospective Cohort Study. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 59: 323-28.
- Hoy, D., March, L., Brooks, P., Woolf, A., Blyth, F., Vos, T., and Buchbinder, R. (2010) Measuring the Global Burden of Low Back Pain. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology*, 24: 155-65.
- 41. Hoy, D., Bain, C., Williams, G., March, L., Brooks, P., Blyth, F., Woolf, A., Vos, T., and Buchbinder, R. (2012) A Systematic Review of the Global Prevalence of Low Back Pain. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 64: 2028-37.
- 42. Ijzelenberg, W., and Burdorf, A. (2005) Risk Factors for Musculoskeletal Symptoms and Ensuing Health Care Use and Sick Leave. *Spine*, 30: 1550-56.

- 43. Jonker, D., Rolander, B., and Balogh, I. (2009) Relation between Perceived and Measured Workload Obtained by Long-Term Inclinometry among Dentists. *Appl Ergon*, 40: 309-15.
- 44. Jonker, D., Gustafsson, E., Rolander, B., Arvidsson, I., and Nordander, C. (2015) Health Surveillance under Adverse Ergonomics Conditions Validity of a Screening Method Adapted for the Occupational Health Service. *Ergonomics*: 1-10.
- 45. Jorgensen, K., Jensen, B.R., and Stokholm, J. Postural Strain and Discomfort During Loading and Unloading Flights. An Ergonomic Intervention Study, in *Trends in Ergonomics/Human Factors Iv*, ed. by S S. Asfour (Baltimore: Elsevier Science Publishers, 1987), pp. 663-73.
- 46. Juul-Kristensen, B., Hansson, G.Å., Fallentin, N., Andersen, J.H., and Ekdahl, C. (2001) Assessment of Work Postures and Movements Using a Video-Based Observation Method and Direct Technical Measurements. *Applied Ergonomics*, 32: 517-24.
- Karasek, R., Brisson, C., Kawakami, N., Houtman, I., Bongers, P., and Amick, B. (1998) The Job Content Questionnaire (Jcq): An Instrument for Internationally Comparative Assessments of Psychosocial Job Characteristics. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 3: 322-55.
- 48. Karasek, R.A. (1979) Job Demands, Job Decision Latitude, and Mental Strain: Implications for Job Redesign. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24: 285-308.
- 49. Karasek, R.A., Triantis, K.P., and Chaudhry, S.S. (1982) Coworker and Supervisor Support as Moderators of Associations between Task Characteristics and Mental Strain. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 3: 181-200.
- Kazmierczak, K. (2005) An Integrated Analysis of Ergonomics and Time Consumption in Swedish 'Craft-Type' Car Disassembly. *Applied Ergonomics*, 36: 263 - 73.
- 51. Kennedy, C.A., Amick Iii, B.C., Dennerlein, J.T., Brewer, S., Catli, S., Williams, R., Serra, C., Gerr, F., Irvin, E., Mahood, Q., Franzblau, A., Van Eerd, D., Evanoff, B., and Rempel, D. (2009) Systematic Review of the Role of Occupational Health and Safety Interventions in the Prevention of Upper Extremity Musculoskeletal Symptoms, Signs, Disorders, Injuries, Claims and Lost Time. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 20: 127-62.
- 52. Kongsted, A., and Leboeuf-Yde, C. (2009) The Nordic Back Pain Subpopulation Program - Individual Patterns of Low Back Pain Established by Means of Text Messaging: A Longitudinal Pilot Study. *Chiropractic & Osteopathy*, 17: 11.
- 53. Korkmaz, S.V., Hoyle, J.A., Knapik, G.G., Splittstoesser, R., Yang, G., Trippany, D., Lahoti, P., Sommerich, C., Lavender, S.A., and Marras, W.S. (2006) Baggage Handling in an Airplane Cargo Hold: An Ergonomic Intervention Study. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, 36: 301-12.
- 54. Kristensen, T., Hannerz, H., Hogh, A., and Borg, V. (2005) The Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire - a Tool for the Assessment and Improvement of the Psychosocial Work Environment. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 31: 438-49.
- 55. Kristensen, T.S. (2005) Intervention Studies in Occupational Epidemiology. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 62: 205-10.
- 56. Kuorinka, I., Jonsson, B., Kilbom, Å., Vinterberg, H., Biering-Sörensen, F., Andersson, G., and Jörgensen, K. (1987) Standardised Nordic Questionnaires

for the Analysis of Musculoskeletal Symptoms. *Applied Ergonomics*, 18: 233-37.

- 57. Larsson, B., Søgaard, K., and Rosendal, L. (2007) Work Related Neck-Shoulder Pain: A Review on Magnitude, Risk Factors, Biochemical Characteristics, Clinical Picture and Preventive Interventions. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology*, 21: 447-63.
- 58. Larsson, J., and Vinberg, S. (2010) Leadership Behaviour in Successful Organisations: Universal or Situation-Dependent? *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 21: 317-34.
- 59. Leclerc, A., Chastang, J.-F., Niedhammer, I., Landre, M.-F., and Roquelaure, Y. (2004) Incidence of Shoulder Pain in Repetitive Work. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 61: 39-44.
- Leider, P.C., Boschman, J.S., Frings-Dresen, M.H.W., and Van Der Molen, H.F. (2015) Effects of Job Rotation on Musculoskeletal Complaints and Related Work Exposures: A Systematic Literature Review. *Ergonomics*, 58: 18-32.
- 61. Linnan, L., and Steckler, A., *Process Evaluation for Public Health Interventions and Research* (United States: Jossey-Bass, 2002).
- Linton, S.J. (2001) Occupational Psychological Factors Increase the Risk for Back Pain: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 11: 53-66.
- 63. Luger, T., Bosch, T., Veeger, D., and De Looze, M. (2014) The Influence of Task Variation on Manifestation of Fatigue Is Ambiguous a Literature Review. *Ergonomics*, 57: 162-74.
- 64. Luime, J.J., Koes, B.W., Hendriksen, I.J.M., Burdorf, A., Verhagen, A.P., Miedema, H.S., and Verhaar, J.a.N. (2004) Prevalence and Incidence of Shoulder Pain in the General Population; a Systematic Review. *Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology*, 33: 73-81.
- 65. Lundberg, U. (2002) Psychophysiology of Work: Stress, Gender, Endocrine Response, and Work-Related Upper Extremity Disorders*. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 41: 383-92.
- 66. Mathiassen, S.E. (2006) Diversity and Variation in Biomechanical Exposure: What Is It, and Why Would We Like to Know? *Applied Ergonomics*, 37: 419-27.
- 67. Mathiassen, S.E., Wahlström, J., and Forsman, M. (2012) Bias and Imprecision in Posture Percentile Variables Estimated from Short Exposure Samples. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 12: 1-14.
- 68. Mayer, J., Kraus, T., and Ochsmann, E. (2012) Longitudinal Evidence for the Association between Work-Related Physical Exposures and Neck and/or Shoulder Complaints: A Systematic Review. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 85: 587-603.
- 69. Mcbeth, J., and Jones, K. (2007) Epidemiology of Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology*, 21: 403-25.
- 70. Mcewen, B.S. (1998) Stress, Adaptation, and Disease: Allostasis and Allostatic Load. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 840: 33-44.
- 71. Melin, B., and Lundberg, U. (1997) A Biopsychosocial Approach to Work-Stress and Musculosketal Disorders. *Journal of Psychophysiology*, 11: 238-47.
- 72. Melzack, R., and Wall, P.D. (1965) Pain Mechanisms: A New Theory. *Science*, 150: 971-79.
- 73. Montano, D., Hoven, H., and Siegrist, J. (2014) Effects of Organisational-Level Interventions at Work on Employees' Health: A Systematic Review. *BMC Public Health*, 14: 1-9.

- 74. Moore, G.F., Audrey, S., Barker, M., Bond, L., Bonell, C., Hardeman, W., Moore, L., O'cathain, A., Tinati, T., Wight, D., and Baird, J. (2015) Process Evaluation of Complex Interventions: Medical Research Council Guidance. *BMJ:British Medical Journal*, 350.
- 75. Murta, S.G., Sanderson, K., and Oldenburg, B. (2007) Process Evaluation in Occupational Stress Management Programs: A Systematic Review. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 21: 248-54.
- 76. Nielsen, K., Fredslund, H., Christensen, K.B., and Albertsen, K. (2006) Success or Failure? Interpreting and Understanding the Impact of Interventions in Four Similar Worksites. *Work & Stress*, 20: 272-87.
- 77. Nielsen, K., Randall, R., Holten, A.-L., and González, E.R. (2010) Conducting Organizational-Level Occupational Health Interventions: What Works? *Work & Stress*, 24: 234-59.
- Nielsen, K., and Randall, R. (2013) Opening the Black Box: Presenting a Model for Evaluating Organizational-Level Interventions. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 22: 601-17.
- 79. Nordin, M., Andersson, G.B.J., and Pope, M.H., *Musculoskeletal Disorders in the Workplace, Principles and Practice*. 2nd Edition edn (MOSBY 2007).
- Papagiorgiou, A.C., Croft, P., Ferry, S., Jayson, M.I.V., and Silma, A.J. (1995) Estimating the Prevalence of Low Back Pain in the General Population: Evidence from the South Manchester Back Pain Survey. *Spine*, 20: 1889-94.
- 81. Pejtersen, J.H., Sondergard Kristensen, T., Borg, V., and Bjorner, J.B. (2010) The Second Version of the Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 38: 8-24.
- Prince, S., Adamo, K., Hamel, M., Hardt, J., Gorber, S., and Tremblay, M. (2008) A Comparison of Direct Versus Self-Report Measures for Assessing Physical Activity in Adults: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 5.
- 83. Proctor, E.K., Powell, B.J., and Mcmillen, J.C. (2013) Implementation Strategies: Recommendations for Specifying and Reporting. *Implementation Science*, 8: 1-11.
- 84. Punnett, L., and Wegman, D.H. (2004) Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders: The Epidemiologic Evidence and the Debate. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology* 14: 13-23.
- Ramond-Roquin, A., Bodin, J., Serazin, C., Parot-Schinkel, E., Ha, C., Richard, I., Petit Le Manach, A., Fouquet, N., and Roquelaure, Y. (2015) Biomechanical Constraints Remain Major Risk Factors for Low Back Pain. Results from a Prospective Cohort Study in French Male Employees. *The Spine Journal*, 15: 559-69.
- 86. Redell, C.R., Congleton, J.J., Huchingson, R.D., and Montgomery, J.F. (1992) An Evaluation of a Weightlifting Belt and Back Injury Prevention Training Class for Airline Baggage Handlers. *Applied Ergonomics*, 23: 319-29.
- Rijn, R.M.V., Huisstede, B.M.A., Koes, B.W., and Burdorf, A. (2010) Associations between Work-Related Factors and Specific Disorders of the Shoulder — a Systematic Review of the Literature. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 36: 189-201.
- Roquelaure, Y., Bodin, J., Ha, C., Le Manac'h, A.P., Descatha, A., Chastang, J.-F., Xe, Ois, Leclerc, A., Goldberg, M., and Imbernon, E. (2011) Personal, Biomechanical, and Psychosocial Risk Factors for Rotator Cuff Syndrome in a Working Population. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 37: 502-11.

- 89. Ruckert, A., Rohmert, W., and Pressel, G. (1992) Ergonomic Research Study on Aircraft Luggage Handling. *Ergonomics*, 35: 997-1012.
- 90. SBU. Abetets Betydelse för Uppkomst av Besvär och Sjukdomar; Nacken och Övre Rörelseapparaten, ed. by Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering (SBU) (Stockholm: 2012).
- 91. SBU. Arbetsmiljöns Betydelse för Ryggproblem; En Systematisk Litteraturöversikt, ed. by Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering (SBU) (Stockholm: 2014).
- 92. Seidler, A., Bergmann, A., Jäger, M., Ellegast, R., Ditchen, D., Elsner, G., Grifka, J., Haerting, J., Hofmann, F., Linhardt, O., Luttmann, A., Michaelis, M., Petereit-Haack, G., Schumann, B., and Bolm-Audorff, U. (2009) Cumulative Occupational Lumbar Load and Lumbar Disc Disease – Results of a German Multi-Center Case-Control Study (Epilift). *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 10: 48.
- 93. Siegrist, J. (1996) Adverse Health Effects of High-Effort/Low-Reward Conditions. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 1: 27-41.
- 94. Splittstoesser, R., E. Gang, Y., Greg, G.K., David, R.T., Jeff, A.H., Parul, L., Sahika Vatan, K., Carolyn, M.S., Steven, A.L., and William, S.M. (2007) Spinal Loading During Manual Materials Handling in a Kneeling Posture. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology* 17: 25-34.
- Stålhammar, H.R., Leskinen, T.P.J., Kuorinka, I.a.A., Gautreau, M.H.J., and Troup, J.D.G. (1986) Postural, Epidemiological and Biomechanical Analysis of Luggage Handling in an Aircraft Luggage Compartment. *Applied Ergonomics*, 17: 177-83.
- 96. Tabanelli, M., Depolo, M., Cooke, R.T., Sarchielli, G., Bonfiglioli, R., Mattioli, S., and Violante, F. (2008) Available Instruments for Measurement of Psychosocial Factors in the Work Environment. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 82: 1-12.
- 97. Takala, E.-P., Pehkonen, I., Forsman, M., Hansson, G., Xc, Ke, Mathiassen, S.E., Neumann, W.P., Sj, Xf, Gaard, G., Veiersted, K.B., Westgaard, R.H., Winkel, J., Xf, and Rgen. (2010) Systematic Evaluation of Observational Methods Assessing Biomechanical Exposures at Work. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 36: 3-24.
- Taylor, P.J., Russ-Eft, D.F., and Chan, D.W.L. (2005) A Meta-Analytic Review of Behavior Modeling Training. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90: 692-709.
- 99. Teschke, K., Trask, C., Johnson, P., Chow, Y., Villag, J., and Koehoorn, M. (2009) Measuring Posture for Epidemiology: Comparing Inclinometry, Observations and Self-Reports. *Ergonomics*, 52: 1067-78.
- 100. Theorell, T., Hasselhorn, H.-M., and Music Norrtälje Study, G. (2002) Endocrinological and Immunological Variables Sensitive to Psychosocial Factors of Possible Relevance to Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders. *Work & Stress*, 16: 154-65.
- 101. Thomas, R.G., Van Baar, C.E., and Van Der Stee, M.J. (1995) Baggage Handling Postures and the Design of Conveyors. *Applied Ergonomics*, 26: 123-27.
- 102. Thygesen, L.C., Mikkelsen, S., Pedersen, E.B., Møller, K.L., Alkjær, T., Koblauch, H., Simonsen, E.B., Møller, S.P., and Brauer, C. (2016) Subacromial Shoulder Disorders among Baggage Handlers: An Observational Cohort Study. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 89: 867-76.

- 103. Trask, C. (2010) Optimising Sampling Strategies: Components of Low-Back Emg Variability in Five Heavy Industries. Occupational & Environmental Medicine, 67: 853 - 60.
- 104. Trask, C., Mathiassen, S.E., Jackson, J., and Wahlstrom, J. (2013) Data Processing Costs for Three Posture Assessment Methods. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 13: 124.
- 105. Unge, J., Ohlsson, K., Nordander, C., Hansson, G.-Å., Skerfving, S., and Balogh, I. (2007) Differences in Physical Workload, Psychosocial Factors and Musculoskeletal Disorders between Two Groups of Female Hospital Cleaners with Two Diverse Organizational Models. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 81: 209-20.
- 106. Wærsted, M. (2000) Human Muscle Activity Related to Non-Biomechanical Factors in the Workplace. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 83: 151-58.
- 107. Wahlström, J., Mathiassen, S.E., Liv, P., Hedlund, P., Ahlgren, C., and Forsman, M. (2010) Upper Arm Postures and Movements in Female Hairdressers across Four Full Working Days. *Annals of Occupational Hygiene*, 54: 584-94.
- 108. Van Der Windt, D.a.W.M., Thomas, E., Pope, D.P., De Winter, A.F., Macfarlane, G.J., Bouter, L.M., and Silman, A.J. (2000) Occupational Risk Factors for Shoulder Pain: A Systematic Review. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 57: 433-42.
- 109. Van Eerd, D., Cole, D., Irvin, E., Mahood, Q., Keown, K., Theberge, N., Village, J., St. Vincent, M., and Cullen, K. (2010) Process and Implementation of Participatory Ergonomic Interventions: A Systematic Review. *Ergonomics*, 53: 1153-66.
- 110. Van Eerd, D., Munhall, C., Irvin, E., Rempel, D., Brewer, S., Van Der Beek, A.J., Dennerlein, J.T., Tullar, J., Skivington, K., Pinion, C., and Amick, B. (2016) Effectiveness of Workplace Interventions in the Prevention of Upper Extremity Musculoskeletal Disorders and Symptoms: An Update of the Evidence. Occupational & Environmental Medicine, 73: 62-70.
- 111. Van Rijn, R.M., Huisstede, B.M.A., Koes, B.W., and Burdorf, A. (2010) Associations between Work-Related Factors and Specific Disorders of the Shoulder; a Systematic Review of the Literature. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 36: 189-201.
- 112. Weiler, M.R., Lavender, S.A., Crawford, J.M., Reichelt, P.A., Conrad, K.M., and Browne, M.W. (2012) Identification of Factors That Affect the Adoption of an Ergonomic Intervention among Emergency Medical Service Workers. *Ergonomics*, 55: 1362-72.
- 113. Velada, R., Caetano, A., Michel, J.W., Lyons, B.D., and Kavanagh, M.J. (2007) The Effects of Training Design, Individual Characteristics and Work Environment on Transfer of Training. *International Journal of Training and Development*, 11: 282-94.
- 114. Wells, R. (2009) Why Have We Not Solved the MSD Problem? *Work*, 34: 117-21.
- 115. Verbeek, J., Martimo, K.P., Karppinen, J., Kuijer, P.P., Takala, E.P., and Viikari-Juntura, E. (2011) Manual Material Handling Advice and Assistive Devices for Preventing and Treating Back Pain in Workers: A Cochrane Systematic Review. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*.
- 116. Vieira, E., and Kumar, S. (2004) Working Postures: A Literature Review. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 14: 143-59.

- 117. Wierenga, D., Engbers, L.H., Van Empelen, P., Duijts, S., Hildebrandt, V.H., and Van Mechelen, W. (2013) What Is Actually Measured in Process Evaluations for Worksite Health Promotion Programs: A Systematic Review. *BMC Public Health*, 13: 1-16.
- 118. Wijk, K., and Mathiassen, S.E. (2011) Explicit and Implicit Theories of Change When Designing and Implementing Preventive Ergonomics Interventions; a Systematic Literature Review. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment & Health*, 37: 363-75.
- 119. Wiktorin, C., Karlqvist, L., and Winkel, J. (1993) Validity of Self-Reported Exposures to Work Postures and Manual Materials Handling. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 19: 208-14.
- 120. Wiktorin, C., Vingård, E., Mortimer, M., Pernold, G., Wigaeus-Hjelm, E., Kilbom, Å., and Alfredsson, L. (1999) Interview Versus Questionnaire for Assessing Physical Loads in the Population-Based Music-Norrtälje Study. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 35: 441-55.
- 121. Village, J., Trask, C., Luong, N., Chow, Y., Johnson, P., Koehoorn, M., and Teschke, K. (2009) Development and Evaluation of an Observational Back-Exposure Sampling Tool (Back-Est) for Work-Related Back Injury Risk Factors. *Applied Ergonomics*, 40: 538-44.
- 122. Winkel, J., and Mathiassen, S.E. (1994) Assessment of Physical Work Load in Epidemiologic Studies: Concepts, Issues and Operational Considerations. *Ergonomics*, 37: 979-88.
- 123. Von Korff, M., Jensen, M., and Karoly, P. (2000) Assessing Global Pain Severity by Self-Report in Clinical and Health Services Research. *Spine*, 25: 3140-51.
- 124. Woods, V. (2005) Work-Related Musculoskeletal Health and Social Support. *Occupational Medicine*, 55: 177-89.
- 125. Wännström, I., Peterson, U., Åsberg, M., Nygren, Å., and Gustavsson, J.P. (2009) Psychometric Properties of Scales in the General Nordic Questionnaire for Psychological and Social Factors at Work (QPSnordic): Confirmatory Factor Analysis and Prediction of Certified Long-Term Sickness Absence. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 50: 231-44.

Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis

Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine 1321

Editor: The Dean of the Faculty of Medicine

A doctoral dissertation from the Faculty of Medicine, Uppsala University, is usually a summary of a number of papers. A few copies of the complete dissertation are kept at major Swedish research libraries, while the summary alone is distributed internationally through the series Digital Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine. (Prior to January, 2005, the series was published under the title "Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Medicine".)



ACTA UNIVERSITATIS UPSALIENSIS UPPSALA 2017

Distribution: publications.uu.se urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-316468